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CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS AND INDUSTRY DATA

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as 
amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Forward-looking statements, which are based on certain assumptions and 
describe our future plans, strategies and expectations, can generally be identified by the use of forward-looking terms such as “believe,” “expect,” “may,” 
“will,” “should,” “would,” “could,” “seek,” “intend,” “plan,” “goal,” “project,” “estimate,” “anticipate,” “strategy,” “future,” “likely” or other comparable 
terms. All statements, other than statements of historical fact, contained in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, including statements regarding our strategy, 
future operations, future financial position, future revenue, projected costs, prospects, plans and objectives of management, are forward-looking statements. 

The forward-looking statements in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q include, among other things, statements about:

• the initiation, timing, progress and results of our current and future preclinical studies and clinical trials and our research and development 
programs; 

 

• our estimates regarding expenses, future revenue, capital requirements and need for additional financing;
 

• our expectations regarding our ability to fund our projected operating requirements with our existing cash resources and the period in which 
we expect that such cash resources will enable us to fund such operating requirements;
 

• our plans to develop our drug product candidates; 
 

• the timing of and our ability to submit applications for, obtain and maintain regulatory approvals for our drug product candidates;
 

• the potential advantages of our drug product candidates;
 

• the rate and degree of market acceptance and clinical utility of our drug product candidates, if approved;
 

• our estimates regarding the potential market opportunity for our drug product candidates;
 

• our commercialization, marketing and manufacturing capabilities and strategy;
 

• our intellectual property position;
 

• our ability to identify additional products, drug product candidates or technologies with significant commercial potential that are consistent 
with our commercial objectives;
 

• the impact of government laws and regulations;
 

• our competitive position;
 

• developments relating to our competitors and our industry;
 

• our ability to maintain and establish collaborations or obtain additional funding; and
 

• the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic.
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Forward-looking statements are neither historical facts nor assurances of future performance. Instead, they are based only on our current beliefs, 
expectations and assumptions regarding the future of our business, future plans and strategies, projections, anticipated events and trends, the economy and 
other future conditions. Because forward-looking statements relate to the future, they are subject to inherent uncertainties, risks and changes in 
circumstances that are difficult to predict and many of which are outside of our control. Our actual results and financial condition may differ materially 
from those indicated in the forward-looking statements. Therefore, you should not rely on any of these forward-looking statements. Important factors that 
could cause our actual results and financial condition to differ materially from those indicated in the forward-looking statements include the factors 
discussed below under the heading “Risk Factor Summary,” and the risk factors detailed further in Item 1A., “Risk Factors” of Part I of our Annual Report 
on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2021.

This report includes statistical and other industry and market data that we obtained from industry publications and research, surveys, and studies 
conducted by third parties as well as our own estimates. All of the market data used in this report involve a number of assumptions and limitations, and you 
are cautioned not to give undue weight to such data. Industry publications and third-party research, surveys, and studies generally indicate that their 
information has been obtained from sources believed to be reliable, although they do not guarantee the accuracy or completeness of such information. Our 
estimates of the potential market opportunities for our drug product candidates include several key assumptions based on our industry knowledge, industry 
publications, third-party research, and other surveys, which may be based on a small sample size and may fail to accurately reflect market opportunities. 
While we believe that our internal assumptions are reasonable, no independent source has verified such assumptions.

Any forward-looking statement made by us in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q is based only on information currently available to us and speaks 
only as of the date on which it is made. We undertake no obligation to publicly update any forward-looking statement, whether written or oral, that may be 
made from time to time, whether as a result of new information, future developments or otherwise.

RISK FACTOR SUMMARY  

Investment in our securities involves risk.  You should carefully consider the following summary of what we believe to be the principal risks 
facing our business, in addition to the risks described more fully in Item 1A, “Risk Factors” of Part I of our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission on March 16, 2022 and other information included in this report. The risks and uncertainties described below are not 
the only risks and uncertainties we face. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or that we presently deem less significant may also 
impair our business operations.

If any of the following risks occurs, our business, financial condition and results of operations and future growth prospects could be materially 
and adversely affected, and the actual outcomes of matters as to which forward-looking statements are made in this report could be materially different 
from those anticipated in such forward-looking statements.

• We are a clinical-stage biopharmaceutical company, have no history of generating commercial revenue, have a history of operating losses, and 
we may never achieve or maintain profitability.

• We currently do not have, and may never develop, any FDA-approved or commercialized products.

• We are substantially dependent on the success of our drug product candidates, only one of which is currently being tested in a clinical trial, and 
significant additional research and development and clinical testing will be required before we can potentially seek regulatory approval for or 
commercialize any of our drug product candidates.

• We have limited experience in conducting clinical trials and no history of commercializing biologic products, which may make it difficult to 
evaluate the prospects for our future viability.

• The continuing COVID-19 pandemic has adversely impacted, and may continue to adversely impact our business, including our clinical trials 
and preclinical studies.

• We plan to seek collaborations or strategic alliances. However, we may not be able to establish such relationships, and relationships we have 
established may not provide the expected benefits. Our collaboration agreements with Merck and LG Chem contain exclusivity provisions that 
restrict our research and development activities.

• We may not be successful in our efforts to identify additional drug product candidates. Due to our limited resources and access to capital, we 
must prioritize development of certain drug product candidates; these decisions may prove to be wrong and may adversely affect our business.

• We face significant competition from other biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies, and our operating results will suffer if we fail to 
compete effectively.
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• We rely on third parties to conduct our clinical trials. If these third parties do not successfully carry out their contractual duties or meet expected 
deadlines, we may not be able to obtain regulatory approval for or commercialize our drug product candidates and our business could be 
substantially harmed.

• We rely completely on third parties to manufacture our preclinical and clinical drug supplies for our drug product candidates.

• If we or our licensor is unable to protect our or its intellectual property, then our financial condition, results of operations and the value of our 
technology and potential products could be adversely affected.

• We will be subject to stringent domestic and foreign regulation in respect of any potential products. The regulatory approval processes of the 
FDA and other comparable regulatory authorities outside the United States are lengthy, time-consuming and inherently unpredictable. Any 
unfavorable regulatory action may materially and adversely affect our future financial condition and business operations.

• Even if a potential therapeutic is ultimately approved by the various regulatory authorities, it may be approved only for narrow indications which 
may render it commercially less viable.

• Even if we receive regulatory approval of our drug product candidates, we will be subject to ongoing regulatory obligations and continued 
regulatory review, which may result in significant additional expense, and we may be subject to penalties if we fail to comply with regulatory 
requirements or experience unanticipated problems with our drug product candidates.

• We are a party to a loan agreement that requires us to meet certain operating covenants and places restrictions on our operating and financial 
flexibility.  
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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements

Cue Biopharma, Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets

(Unaudited in thousands, except share amounts)
  

  
June 30,

2022   
December 31,

2021  
Assets       
Current assets:       

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 66,126   $ 64,371  
Accounts receivable   736    3,142  
Prepaid expenses and other current assets   2,142    955  

Total current assets   69,004    68,468  
Property and equipment, net   1,765    2,112  
Operating lease right-of-use   9,899    9,810  
Deposits   3,797    2,721  
Restricted cash   150    150  
Other long-term assets   134    140  

Total assets  $ 84,749   $ 83,401  
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity       
Current liabilities:       

Accounts payable  $ 1,568   $ 2,591  
Accrued expenses   3,559    4,620  
Research and development contract liability, current portion   —    645  
Operating lease liability, current portion   3,196    4,932  

Total current liabilities   8,323    12,788  
Operating lease liability, net of current portion   6,757    5,121  
Long-term debt, net   9,913    —  

Total liabilities  $ 24,993   $ 17,909  
Commitments and contingencies (Note 10)       
Stockholders’ equity:       

Preferred stock, $0.001 par value; 10,000,000 shares authorized and 0 shares issued and
outstanding at June 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021   —    —  
Common stock, $0.001 par value; 100,000,000 shares authorized; 35,381,743 and 32,202,496 shares 
issued and outstanding, at June 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021, respectively   35    32  
Additional paid in capital   284,630    262,906  
Accumulated deficit   (224,909 )   (197,446 )

Total stockholders’ equity   59,756    65,492  
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity  $ 84,749   $ 83,401  

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Cue Biopharma, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Operations and Other Comprehensive Loss
(Unaudited in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

 

  
Three Months Ended

June 30,   
Six Months Ended

June 30,  
  2022   2021   2022   2021  

Collaboration revenue  $ 26   $ 2,739   $ 1,026   $ 4,291  
Operating expenses (income):             

General and administrative   3,782    4,280    8,938    8,535  
Research and development   9,592    8,762    19,675    18,577  
Gain on right-of-use asset termination   (258 )   —    (258 )   —  
Total operating expenses   13,116    13,042    28,355    27,112  

Loss from operations   (13,090 )   (10,303 )   (27,329 )   (22,821 )
Other (expense) income:             

Interest income, net   88    24    96    37  
Interest expense, net   (206 )   —    (230 )   —  

Total other (expense) income   (118 )   24    (134 )   37  
Net loss  $ (13,208 )  $ (10,279 )  $ (27,463 )  $ (22,784 )

Unrealized loss from available-for-sale
   securities   —    —    —    (7 )

Comprehensive loss  $ (13,208 )  $ (10,279 )  $ (27,463 )  $ (22,791 )
Net loss per common share – basic and diluted  $ (0.37 )  $ (0.33 )  $ (0.81 )  $ (0.74 )
Weighted average common shares outstanding –
   basic and diluted

  35,357,343    31,233,794  
 

 34,005,410    30,834,522  

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Cue Biopharma, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity
(Unaudited in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

 
For the three months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021:  

  Common Stock   Additional   
Accumulated

Other      Total  

  Shares   
Par

Value   
Paid-in
Capital   

Comprehensive
Income (Loss)   

Accumulated
Deficit   

Stockholders’
Equity  

Balance, March 31, 2021   30,499,803   $ 31   $ 235,428   $ —   $ (165,790 )  $ 69,669  
Issuance of common stock from ATM offering, net of
   sales agent commission and fees   907,700    —    10,356    —    —    10,356  
Stock-based compensation   —    —    2,854    —    —    2,854  
Exercise of stock options   62,713    —    310    —    —    310  
Net loss   —    —    —    —    (10,279 )   (10,279 )
Balance, June 30, 2021   31,470,216   $ 31   $ 248,948   $ —   $ (176,069 )  $ 72,910  
                   
Balance, March 31, 2022   34,174,800   $ 34   $ 276,340   $ —   $ (211,701 )  $ 64,673  
Issuance of common stock from ATM offering, net of
   sales agent commission and fees   1,197,394    1    5,981    —    —    5,982  
Stock-based compensation   —    —    2,309    —    —    2,309  
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of warrants, net   9,549    —    —    —    —    —  
Net loss   —    —    —    —    (13,208 )   (13,208 )
Balance, June 30, 2022   35,381,743   $ 35   $ 284,630   $ —   $ (224,909 )  $ 59,756  

                   
For the six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021:  

  Common Stock   Additional   
Accumulated

Other      Total  

  Shares   
Par

Value   
Paid-in
Capital   

Comprehensive
Income (Loss)   

Accumulated
Deficit   

Stockholders’
Equity  

Balance, December 31, 2020   30,351,366   $ 30   $ 232,159   $ 7   $ (153,285 )  $ 78,911  
Issuance of common stock from ATM offering, net of
   sales agent commission and fees   907,700    1    10,356    —    —    10,357  
Stock-based compensation   —    —    5,290    —    —    5,290  
Exercise of stock options   193,355    —    1,228    —    —    1,228  
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of warrants, net   8,048    —    —    —    —    —  
Restricted stock awards   16,666    —    —    —    —    —  
Repurchase of restricted stock awards   (6,919 )   —    (85 )   —    —    (85 )
Unrealized losses from available-for-sale securities   —    —    —    (7 )   —    (7 )
Net loss   —    —    —    —    (22,784 )   (22,784 )
Balance, June 30, 2021   31,470,216   $ 31   $ 248,948   $ —   $ (176,069 )  $ 72,910  
                   
Balance, December 31, 2021   32,202,496   $ 32   $ 262,906   $ —   $ (197,446 )  $ 65,492  
Issuance of common stock from ATM offering, net of
   sales agent commission and fees   3,117,220    3    16,595    —    —    16,598  
Stock-based compensation   —    —    5,320    —    —    5,320  
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of warrants, net   9,549    —    —    —    —    —  
Restricted stock awards released   91,668    —    —    —    —    —  
Restricted stock awards withheld at vesting to cover taxes   (39,190 )   —    (191 )   —    —    (191 )
Net loss   —    —    —    —    (27,463 )   (27,463 )
Balance, June 30, 2022   35,381,743   $ 35   $ 284,630   $ —   $ (224,909 )  $ 59,756  

                   
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Cue Biopharma, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(Unaudited in thousands)

  
  Six Months Ended June 30,  
  2022   2021  

Cash flows from operating activities       
Net loss  $ (27,463 )  $ (22,784 )
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to cash used in operating activities:       

Depreciation and amortization   518    632  
Stock-based compensation   5,320    5,290  
Amortization of operating lease right-of-use asset   169    2,252  
Gain on right-of-use asset termination   (258 )    
Loss (gain) on disposal of fixed assets   4    (19 )
Amortization of premium/discount on purchased securities   —    (5 )
Amortization of debt issuance costs   12    —  
Accretion of final payment on term loan   43    —  
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:       

Accounts receivable   2,407    (487 )
Prepaid expenses and other current assets   (1,268 )   (2,787 )
Other assets   —    250  
Deposits   (1,075 )   (47 )
Accounts payable   (1,023 )   922  
Accrued expenses   (1,062 )   (784 )
Research and development contract liability   (645 )   (1,726 )
Operating lease liability   (100 )   (2,272 )

Net cash used in operating activities   (24,421 )   (21,565 )
Cash flows from investing activities       

Purchases of property and equipment   (92 )   (900 )
Cash received from the sale of fixed asset   3    19  
Redemption of short-term investments   —    10,000  
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities   (89 )   9,119  

Cash flows from financing activities       
Proceeds from ATM offering, net of sales agent
   commission and fees   16,598    10,357  
Proceeds from borrowings under term loan   10,000    —  
Proceeds from exercise of stock options   —    1,228  
Payment of debt issuance costs   (142 )   —  
Restricted stock awards withheld at vesting to cover taxes   (191 )   (85 )
Net cash provided by financing activities   26,265    11,500  

Net (decrease)/increase in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash   1,755    (946 )
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash at beginning of period   64,521    75,016  
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash at end of period  $ 66,276   $ 74,070  
Supplemental disclosures of non-cash investing and financing activities:       
Income taxes  $ —   $ 206  
Cash paid for interest  $ 214   $ —  
Right-of-use asset and lease liability (new lease)  $ 9,057   $ —  
Operating lease modification  $ 7,119   $ —  
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Cue Biopharma, Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

For the three and six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021

1. Organization and Basis of Presentation 

Cue Biopharma, Inc. (the “Company”) was incorporated in the State of Delaware on December 31, 2014 under the name Imagen Biopharma, Inc., 
and completed its organization, formation, and initial capitalization activities effective as of January 1, 2015. In October 2016, the Company changed its 
name to Cue Biopharma, Inc. The Company’s corporate office and research facilities are located in Boston, Massachusetts. 

The Company is a clinical-stage biopharmaceutical company developing a novel class of injectable biologics designed to selectively engage and 
modulate tumor-specific T cells within the body to treat a broad range of cancers, chronic infectious diseases, and autoimmune diseases.

The Company is in the development stage and has incurred recurring losses and negative cash flows from operations since inception. As of June 30, 
2022, the Company had cash and cash equivalents of approximately $66,126,000. Management believes that current cash and cash equivalents on hand at 
June 30, 2022 are sufficient to fund operations for at least the next twelve months from the date of issuance of these financial statements; however, the 
future viability of the Company is dependent on its ability to raise additional capital to finance its operations and to fund increased research and 
development costs in order to seek approval for commercialization of its drug product candidates. The Company’s failure to raise capital as and when 
needed would have a negative impact on its financial condition and its ability to pursue its business strategies as this capital is necessary for the Company 
to perform the research and development activities required to develop and commercialize the Company’s drug product candidates in order to generate 
future revenue streams.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation 

The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements as of June 30, 2022, and for the three and six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, 
have been prepared in accordance with the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) and generally accepted 
accounting principles in the United States (“U.S. GAAP”) for financial information, which prescribes elimination of all significant intercompany accounts 
and transactions in the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiary, Cue Biopharma Securities Corp., which was incorporated in the 
Commonwealth of Massachusetts in December 2018. In the opinion of management, these financial statements reflect all adjustments which are necessary 
for a fair statement of the Company’s financial position and results of its operations, as of and for the periods presented. These financial statements should 
be read in conjunction with the financial statements and notes thereto contained in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on 
March 16, 2022.

Interim results for the three and six months ended June 30, 2022 are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for the fiscal year 
ending December 31, 2022, or any future periods.
 
Public Offerings

In June 2020, the Company entered into an at-the-market ("ATM") equity offering sales agreement (the “June 2020 ATM Agreement”)  with Stifel 
Nicolaus & Company, Inc. ("Stifel") to sell shares of the Company’s common stock for aggregate gross proceeds of up to $40 million, from time to time, 
through an ATM equity offering program under which Stifel would act as sales agent.  The June 2020 ATM Agreement was terminated in October 2021 
prior to entering into the October 2021 ATM Agreement (as defined below).  As of June 30, 2022, the Company had sold an aggregate of 2,099,700 shares 
of common stock under the June 2020 ATM Agreement for proceeds of approximately $32.7 million, net of commissions paid, but excluding transaction 
expenses.  

In October 2021, the Company entered into an open market sale agreement (the “October 2021 ATM Agreement”) with Jefferies LLC ("Jefferies"), 
as agent, to sell shares of the Company’s common stock for aggregate gross proceeds of up to $80 million, from time to time, through an ATM equity 
offering program.  The October 2021 ATM Agreement will terminate upon the earliest of (a) the sale of $80 million of shares of the Company’s common 
stock pursuant to the October 2021 ATM Agreement or (b) the termination of the October 2021 ATM Agreement by the Company or Jefferies. During the 
three and six months ended June 30, 2022, the Company sold 1,197,394 and 3,117,220 shares, of common stock under the October 2021 ATM Agreement 
for proceeds of approximately $5,982,000, and $16,598,000 net of commission paid, but excluding transaction expenses, respectively. As of June 30, 2022, 
the Company had sold an aggregate of 3,593,407 shares of common stock under the October 2021 ATM Agreement for proceeds of approximately $23.6 
million, net of commissions paid, but excluding transaction expenses, since its inception.
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Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the Company and its wholly owned subsidiary, Cue Biopharma Securities Corp. The 
Company has eliminated all intercompany transactions.
 

Use of Estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of expenses during the reporting period. 
Significant estimates include estimates related to collaboration revenue, the accounting for potential liabilities and accrued expenses, the assumptions 
utilized in valuing stock-based compensation issued for services, the realization of deferred tax assets, and the useful life with respect to long-lived assets 
and intangibles. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

COVID-19 Pandemic

The extent to which the COVID-19 pandemic may continue to impact the Company’s business and financial results will depend on numerous 
evolving factors including, but not limited to: the magnitude and duration of the COVID-19 pandemic, the extent of its impact on worldwide 
macroeconomic conditions, the speed of the anticipated recovery, access to capital markets, and governmental and business reactions to the pandemic. The 
Company assessed certain accounting matters that generally require consideration of forecasted financial information in context with the information 
reasonably available to the Company and the unknown future impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic as of June 30, 2022 and through the date of the filing of 
this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. The accounting matters assessed included, but were not limited to, estimates related to collaboration revenue, the 
accounting for potential liabilities and accrued expenses, the assumptions utilized in valuing stock-based compensation issued for services, the realization 
of deferred tax assets, and assessments of impairment related to long-lived assets and intangibles. The Company’s future assessment of the magnitude and 
duration of the COVID-19 pandemic, as well as other factors, could result in material impacts to the Company’s consolidated financial statements in future 
reporting periods.

Despite the Company’s efforts, the ultimate impact of the COVID-19 pandemic depends on factors beyond the Company’s knowledge or control, 
including the duration and severity of the pandemic, as well as third-party actions taken to contain its spread and mitigate its public health effects. As a 
result, the Company is unable to estimate the extent to which the COVID-19 pandemic may negatively impact its financial results or liquidity in the future.

Cash Concentrations 

The Company maintains its cash balances with a financial institution in federally insured accounts and may periodically have cash balances in 
excess of insurance limits. The Company maintains its accounts with a financial institution with a high credit rating. The Company has not experienced any 
losses to date and believes that it is not exposed to any significant credit risk on cash. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less at the date of purchase to be cash equivalents.  The 
Company currently invests available cash in money market funds.

Marketable Securities

Marketable securities consist of investments with original maturities greater than ninety days and less than one year from the balance sheet date.  
The Company classifies all of its investments as available-for-sale securities.  Accordingly, these investments are recorded at fair value, which is based on 
quoted market prices.  Unrealized gains and losses are recognized and determined on a specific identification basis and are included in other comprehensive 
loss. Realized gains and losses are determined on a specific identification basis and are included in other income on the consolidated statement of 
operations and other comprehensive loss.  Amortization and accretion of discounts and premiums is recorded in interest income.  The Company has 
invested available cash in United States Treasury obligations.
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Restricted Cash

The Company had $150,000 in restricted cash deposited with a commercial bank to collateralize a credit card as of June 30, 2022 and December 31, 
2021.

Property and Equipment 

Property and equipment is recorded at cost. Major improvements are capitalized, while maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred. 
Gains and losses from dispositions of property and equipment are included in income and expense when realized. Amortization of leasehold improvements 
is provided using the straight-line method over the shorter of the lease term or the useful life of the underlying assets. Depreciation of property and 
equipment is provided using the straight-line method over the following estimated useful lives: 
 

Laboratory equipment  5 years
Computer and office equipment  3 years
Furniture and fixtures  3-8 years

 
The Company recognizes depreciation and amortization expense in general and administrative expenses and in research and development expenses 

in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss, depending on how each category of property and equipment is utilized in 
the Company’s business activities. 

Trademark

Trademark consists of the Company’s right, title and interest to the CUE BIOLOGICS Mark, and any derivative mark incorporating CUE, 
throughout the world, together with all associated goodwill and common law rights appurtenant thereto, including, but not limited to, any right, title and 
interest in any corporate name, company name, business, name, trade name, dba, domain name, or other source identifier incorporating CUE.

The Company has classified the trademark as a component of other long-term assets, having a useful life of 15 years. The Company evaluates the 
status of this intangible asset for amortization and impairment at each quarter end and year end reporting date. For each of the three and six months ended 
June 30, 2022 and 2021, the Company recorded approximately $3,000 and $6,000, respectively, in amortization expense on a straight-line basis. 
 
Debt Issuance Costs

Debt issuance costs are deferred and presented as a reduction to long-term debt. Debt issuance costs are amortized using the effective interest rate 
method over the term of the loan. Amortization of deferred debt issuance costs are included in interest expense in the consolidated statements of operations 
and other comprehensive loss.

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes collaboration revenue under certain of the Company’s license and collaboration agreements that are within the scope of 
Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”), Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“ASC 606”). The Company’s contracts with customers 
typically include promises related to licenses to intellectual property and research and development services.  If the license to the Company’s intellectual 
property is determined to be distinct from the other performance obligations identified in the arrangement, the Company recognizes revenue from non-
refundable, up-front fees allocated to the license when the license is transferred to the licensee and the licensee is able to use and benefit from the license. 
For licenses that are bundled with other promises, the Company utilizes judgment to assess the nature of the combined performance obligation to determine 
whether the combined performance obligation is satisfied over time or at a point in time and, if over time, the appropriate method of measuring progress for 
purposes of recognizing revenue from non-refundable, up-front fees. Accordingly, the transaction price is generally comprised of a fixed fee due at contract 
inception and variable consideration in the form of milestone payments due upon the achievement of specified events and tiered royalties earned when 
customers recognize net sales of licensed products. The Company measures the transaction price based on the amount of consideration to which it expects 
to be entitled in exchange for transferring the promised goods and/or services to the customer. The Company utilizes the “most likely amount” method to 
estimate the amount of variable consideration, to predict the amount of consideration to which it will be entitled for its one open contract. Amounts of 
variable consideration are included in the transaction price to the extent that it is probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue 
recognized will not occur when the uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved. At the inception of each arrangement 
that includes development and regulatory milestone payments, the Company evaluates whether the associated event is considered probable of achievement 
and estimates the amount to be included in the transaction price using the most likely amount method. 
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Research and Development Expenses 

Research and development expenses consist primarily of compensation costs, fees paid to consultants, outside service providers and organizations 
(including research institutes at universities), facility costs, and development and clinical trial costs with respect to the Company’s drug product candidates. 

Research and development expenses incurred under contracts are expensed ratably over the life of the underlying contracts, unless the achievement 
of milestones, the completion of contracted work, or other information indicates that a different pattern of performance is more appropriate.  Other research 
and development expenses are charged to operations as incurred.  

Nonrefundable advance payments are recognized as an expense as the related services are performed. The Company evaluates whether it expects the 
services to be rendered at each quarter end and year end reporting date. If the Company does not expect the services to be rendered, the advance payment is 
charged to expense. Nonrefundable advance payments for research and development services are included in prepaid and other current assets on the 
balance sheet.  To the extent that a nonrefundable advance payment is for contracted services to be performed within 12 months from the reporting date, 
such advance is included in current assets; otherwise, such advance is included in non-current assets.

The Company evaluates the status of its research and development agreements and contracts, and the carrying amount of the related assets and 
liabilities, at each quarter end and year end reporting date, and adjusts the carrying amounts and their classification on the balance sheet as appropriate. 
 

Patent Expenses 

The Company is the exclusive worldwide licensee of, and has patent applications pending for, numerous domestic and foreign patents. Due to the 
significant uncertainty associated with the successful development of one or more commercially viable drug product candidates based on the Company’s 
research efforts and any related patent applications, all patent costs, including patent-related legal fees, filing fees and other costs are charged to general & 
administrative expense as incurred. For the three and six months ended June 30, 2022, patent expenses were $564,000 and $1,230,000, respectively. For the 
three and six months ended June 30, 2021, patent expenses were $564,000 and $1,083,000, respectively. 

Licensing Fees and Costs 

Licensing fees and costs consist primarily of costs relating to the acquisition of the Company’s license agreement (the “Einstein License 
Agreement”) with the Albert Einstein College of Medicine (“Einstein”), including related royalties, maintenance fees, milestone payments and product 
development costs. Licensing fees and costs are charged to research and development expense as incurred. 

Long-Lived Assets 

The Company reviews long-lived assets, consisting of property and equipment, for impairment at each fiscal year end or when events or changes in 
circumstances indicate the carrying value of these assets may exceed their current fair values. Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by a 
comparison of the carrying amount of an asset to the estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected to be generated by the asset. If the carrying amount 
of an asset exceeds its estimated future cash flows, an impairment charge is recognized for the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds 
the fair value of the assets. Assets to be disposed of are separately presented in the balance sheet and reported at the lower of the carrying amount or fair 
value less costs to sell and are no longer depreciated. The Company has not historically recorded any impairment to its long-lived assets. In the future, if 
events or market conditions affect the estimated fair value to the extent that a long-lived asset is impaired, the Company will adjust the carrying value of 
these long-lived assets in the period in which the impairment occurs.  

Leases 
 

The Company accounts for leases under ASC 842 Leases, which requires a lessee to record a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability 
for most lease arrangements on the balance sheet.  Under the standard, disclosure of key information about leasing arrangements to assist users of the 
financial statements with assessing the amount, timing and uncertainty of cash flows arising from leases are required. 
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Stock-Based Compensation 

The Company periodically issues stock-based awards to officers, directors, employees, Scientific and Clinical Advisory Board members, and 
consultants for services rendered. Such issuances vest and expire according to terms established at the issuance date. 

Stock-based payments to officers, directors, employees, Scientific and Clinical Advisory Board members and consultants, including grants of 
employee stock options, are recognized in the financial statements based on their grant date fair values. Stock option grants, which are generally time-
vested, are measured at the grant date fair value and charged to operations on a straight-line basis over the service period, which generally approximates the 
vesting term. The Company also grants performance-based awards periodically to officers of the Company. The Company recognizes compensation costs 
related to performance awards over the requisite service period if and when the Company concludes that it is probable that the performance condition will 
be achieved.  

The fair value of stock options and restricted stock units is determined utilizing the Black-Scholes option-pricing model, which is affected by several 
variables, including the risk-free interest rate, the expected dividend yield, the life of the equity award, the exercise price of the stock option as compared to 
the fair value of the common stock on the grant date, and the estimated volatility of the common stock over the term of the equity award. 

The risk-free interest rate is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant. Until the Company has  established a trading 
history for its common stock that approximates the expected term of the options, estimated volatility is based on the average historical volatilities of 
comparable public companies in a similar industry. The expected dividend yield is based on the current yield at the grant date; the Company has never 
declared or paid dividends and has no plans to do so for the foreseeable future. As permitted by Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 107, due to the Company’s 
limited trading history and option activity, management utilizes the simplified method to estimate the expected term of options at the date of grant. The 
exercise price is determined based on the fair value of the Company’s common stock at the date of grant. The Company accounts for forfeitures as they 
occur.

The Company recognizes the fair value of stock-based compensation in general and administrative expenses and in research and development 
expenses in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss, depending on the type of services provided by the recipient of 
the equity award. 

Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Components of comprehensive income or loss, including net income or loss, are reported in the financial statements in the period in which they are 
recognized.  Other comprehensive income or loss is defined as the change in equity during a period from transactions and other events and circumstances 
from non-owner sources.  Net income (loss) and other comprehensive income (loss) are reported net of any related tax effect to arrive at comprehensive 
income (loss).  Comprehensive income (loss) includes net income (loss) as well as changes in stockholders’ equity that result from transactions and 
economic events other than those with stockholders.  The Company’s only element of other comprehensive income (loss) in periods presented was 
unrealized gain or loss on available-for-sale securities.

Earnings (Loss) Per Share 

The Company’s computation of earnings (loss) per share (“EPS”) for the respective periods includes basic and diluted EPS. Basic EPS is measured 
as the income (loss) attributable to common stockholders divided by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the period. Diluted 
EPS is similar to basic EPS but presents the dilutive effect on a per share basis of potential common shares that would result from the exercise of 
outstanding stock options and warrants as if they had been exercised at the beginning of the periods presented, or issuance date, if later. Potential common 
shares that have an anti-dilutive effect (i.e., those that increase income per share or decrease loss per share) are excluded from the calculation of diluted 
EPS. Basic and diluted loss per common share is the same for all periods presented because all outstanding stock options and warrants are anti-dilutive.

At June 30, 2022 and 2021, the Company excluded the outstanding securities summarized below, which entitle the holders thereof to acquire shares 
of common stock, from its calculation of earnings per share, as their effect would have been anti-dilutive. 
 

  June 30,  
  2022  2021  
Common stock warrants   789,358   851,969  
Common stock options   6,306,354   5,685,188  
Nonvested restricted stock units   6,667   213,336  
Total   7,102,379   6,750,493  
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Fair Value of Financial Instruments 

The authoritative guidance with respect to fair value established a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to 
measure fair value into three levels and requires that assets and liabilities carried at fair value be classified and disclosed in one of three categories, as 
presented below.

Level 1.   Observable inputs such as quoted prices in active markets for an identical asset or liability that the Company has the ability to access as of 
the measurement date. Financial assets and liabilities utilizing Level 1 inputs include active exchange-traded securities and exchange-based derivatives.

Level 2.   Inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, which are directly observable for the asset or liability or indirectly observable 
through corroboration with observable market data. Financial assets and liabilities utilizing Level 2 inputs include fixed income securities, non-exchange-
based derivatives, mutual funds, and fair-value hedges.

Level 3.   Unobservable inputs in which there is little or no market data for the asset or liability which requires the reporting entity to develop its 
own assumptions. Financial assets and liabilities utilizing Level 3 inputs include infrequently traded non-exchange-based derivatives and commingled 
investment funds and are measured using present value pricing models.

The Company determines the level in the fair value hierarchy within which each fair value measurement falls in its entirety, based on the lowest 
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety. In determining the appropriate levels, the Company performs an analysis of the 
assets and liabilities at each reporting period end.

The Company had approximately $52,485,000 and $52,509,000 in cash equivalents that was measured and recorded at fair value on the Company’s 
balance sheet as of June 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021, respectively.  

The carrying value of financial instruments (consisting of cash, a certificate of deposit, accounts payable, accrued compensation and accrued 
expenses) is considered to be representative of their respective fair values due to the short-term nature of those instruments.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements 

In June 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (the “FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") No. 2016-13, Financial 
Instruments-Credit Losses: Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments (Topic 326) (CECL). The new standard requires entities to measure all 
expected credit losses for financial assets held at the reporting date based on historical experience, current conditions and reasonable and supportable 
forecasts. The new standard is effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2022, including interim reporting periods within each 
annual reporting period for smaller reporting companies. The Company is still evaluating the impact of ASU No. 2016-13 on the Company’s consolidated 
financial statements.

Management does not believe that any other recently issued, but not yet effective, authoritative guidance, if currently adopted, would have a 
material impact on the Company’s financial statement presentation or disclosures.

3. Fair Value 

The Company accounts for its financial assets and liabilities using fair value measurements. The authoritative accounting guidance defines fair 
value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value under U.S. GAAP and enhances disclosures about fair value measurements. Fair value is defined as 
the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset 
or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date.  
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The following table presents information about the Company’s assets that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of June 30, 2022 and 
December 31, 2021, and indicate the level of the fair value hierarchy utilized to determine such fair value:
 

  Fair Value Measurements as of June 30, 2022  
  (in thousands)  

  Level 1   Level 2   Level 3   Fair Value  
Cash equivalents  $ 52,485   $ —   $ —   $ 52,485  
Total  $ 52,485   $ —   $ —   $ 52,485  
             

  Fair Value Measurements as of December 31, 2021  
  (in thousands)  

  Level 1   Level 2   Level 3   Fair Value  
Cash equivalents  $ 52,509   $ —   $ —   $ 52,509  
Total  $ 52,509   $ —   $ —   $ 52,509  

 
As of June 30, 2022, the Company reported approximately $52,485,000 of cash equivalents. The Company’s cash equivalents that are invested in 

money market funds are valued using Level 1 inputs for identical securities. As of December 31, 2021, the Company reported approximately $52,509,000 
of cash equivalents. During the three and six months ended June 30, 2022, and the year ended December 31, 2021, there were no transfers between Level 2 
and Level 3. 

The carrying values of accounts receivable, prepaid expenses, other current assets, accounts payable and accrued expenses approximate their fair 
value due to the short-term nature of these balances.
 

4. Marketable Securities

As of June 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021, the Company did not have any marketable securities.

5. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment as of June 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021 consisted of the following:
 

  
June 30,

2022   
December 31,

2021  
  (in thousands)  

Laboratory equipment  $ 5,235   $ 5,203  
Furniture and fixtures   81    93  
Computer and office equipment   310    253  
Leasehold improvements   7    7  
    5,633    5,556  
Less accumulated depreciation   (3,868 )   (3,444 )
Net property and equipment  $ 1,765   $ 2,112  

 
Depreciation expense for the three months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021 was approximately $212,000 and $231,000, respectively. Depreciation 

expense for the six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021 was approximately $432,000 and $449,000, respectively. Depreciation expense for the six 
months ended June 30, 2022 excludes trademark amortization expense of approximately $6,000, and amortization of capitalized license expenses of 
approximately $80,000.  Depreciation expense for the six months ended June 30, 2021 excludes trademark amortization expense of approximately $6,000, 
and amortization of capitalized license expenses of approximately $177,000. During the six months ended June 30, 2022, the Company sold furniture and 
fixtures with an acquisition cost of $15,000, and collected cash of $3,000. The Company recorded a loss on the sale of fixed assets of $4,000, which is 
presented in other income on the consolidated statement of operations and other comprehensive loss. During the six months ended June 30, 2021, the 
Company sold fully depreciated lab equipment with an acquisition cost of $257,000, and the Company recorded a gain on the sale of fixed assets of 
$19,000, which is presented in other income on the consolidated statement of operations and other comprehensive loss.

6.  Loan with Silicon Valley Bank

On February 15, 2022 (the “Closing Date”), the Company entered into a Loan and Security Agreement (the “Term Loan Agreement”), with Silicon 
Valley Bank, as lender (“Lender”). The Term Loan Agreement provides for up to $20,000,000 in term 
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loans to be drawn in two tranches as follows: (i) a Tranche A term loan in the aggregate principal amount of $10,000,000 (the "Tranche A Loan") and (ii) 
two contingent Tranche B term loans in amounts of at least $5,000,000 each and in the aggregate principal amount not to exceed $10,000,000 which is 
available to be drawn upon meeting certain specified requirements (the "Tranche B Loans" and, collectively, the “Term Loans”). The Company drew 
$10,000,000 in Term Loans on the Closing Date. 

The Term Loans bear interest at a floating rate per annum equal to the greater of (A) the prime rate (as published in the money rates section of The 
Wall Street Journal) plus 2.25% and (B) 5.50%. The Term Loans are interest only from the Closing Date through June 30, 2023, after which the Company 
is required to pay 30 equal monthly installments of principal. If the Tranche B Loans are advanced, the interest-only period shall extend to December 31, 
2023, followed by 24 months of amortization. At June 30, 2022, the interest rate was 7.0% based on the prime rate plus 2.25%.  

 The Term Loans may be prepaid in full prior to February 15, 2023 with a payment of 3.00% prepayment premium, after which they may be prepaid 
in full prior to February 15, 2024 with payment of a 2.00% prepayment premium, on or after which they may be prepaid in full with payment of a 1.00% 
prepayment premium. Upon prepayment or repayment in full of the Term Loans, the Company will be required to pay a one-time final payment fee equal 
to 5.00% of the original principal amount of any funded Term Loans being repaid.  This one-time final payment fee is recorded to interest expense using 
the effective interest method over the period of the Term Loans in the consolidated statements of operation and other comprehensive loss.  

The Term Loans and related obligations under the Term Loan Agreement are secured by substantially all of the Company’s properties, rights and 
assets, except for its intellectual property which is subject to a negative pledge under the Term Loan Agreement.

The Term Loan Agreement contains customary representations, warranties, events of default and covenants, including a requirement that the 
Company maintain in accounts of the Company at the Lender unrestricted and unencumbered cash equal to the lesser of all of the Company’s cash and 
110% of the obligations to the Lender.

During the three and six months ended June 30, 2022, the Company recognized interest expense related to the Term Loans of $150,000 and 
$171,000, respectively, and $43,000 in interest expense related to accretion of the final payment for the three months and six months ended June 30, 2022. 
During the three and six months ended June 30, 2021, the Company did not have interest expense related to the Term Loans.

The following table presents the aggregate maturities of long-term debt as of June 30, 2022: (in thousands):

 
Total debt   $ 10,000  
Accretion of final payment  43  
Less: unamortized debt issuance costs    (130 )
Long-term debt, net of current portion, unamortized debt issuance costs $ 9,913  

 
 Aggregate Minimum Payments  
Year (in thousands)  
2022  $  —  
2023   2,000  
2024   4,000  
2025   4,000  
Total maturities $  10,000  
    
    

 
Debt Issuance Costs

Debt issuance costs are deferred and presented as a reduction to long-term debt. Debt issuance costs are amortized using the effective interest rate 
method over the term of the loan. Amortization of deferred debt issuance costs are included in interest expense in the consolidated statements of operations. 
The Company incurred approximately $142,000 in debt issuance costs related to the Term Loan Agreement. For the three and six months ended June 30, 
2022, the Company recorded approximately $9,000 and $12,000, respectively, in amortization of debt issuance costs to interest expense in the consolidated 
statements of operations and comprehensive loss.
 
7.      Stock-Based Compensation 
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Stock Option Valuation 

For stock options requiring an assessment of value during the six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, the fair value of each stock option award 
was estimated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model utilizing the following assumptions: 
 

  June 30, 2022
Risk-free interest rate  1.53% - 2.56%
Expected dividend yield  0%
Expected volatility  92.1% - 95.7%
Expected life  5.50 to 6.25 years
   

  June 30, 2021
Risk-free interest rate  0.61% - 1.31%
Expected dividend yield  0%
Expected volatility  97.8% - 100.9%
Expected life  5.50 to 6.25 years

 
A summary of stock option activity for the six months ended June 30, 2022 is as follows: 

 

  
Number of

Shares   

Weighted
Average
Exercise

Price   

Weighted 
Average

Remaining 
Contractual 

Life 
(in Years)  

Stock options outstanding at December 31, 2021   5,654,168   $ 10.08    5.48  
Granted   816,000    7.06    —  
Exercised   —    —    —  
Cancelled   (163,814 )   13.75    —  
Stock options outstanding at June 30, 2022   6,306,354    9.59    5.51  
Stock options exercisable at June 30, 2022   4,055,849   $ 8.79    3.77  

 
The Company recognized approximately $2,276,000 and $4,493,000 in stock-based compensation expense during the three and six months ended 

June 30, 2022, respectively, related to stock options activity. As of June 30, 2022, total unrecognized stock-based compensation expense was approximately 
$16,175,000, which is expected to be recognized as an operating expense in the Company’s consolidated statement of operations and other comprehensive 
loss over the weighted average remaining period of 2.31 years. During the six months ended June 30, 2022, the Company granted stock options to purchase 
816,000 shares of common stock with a weighted average grant date fair value of $7.06 per share.  No stock options were granted during the three months 
ended June 30, 2022.

 
The Company recognized approximately $2,466,000 and $4,552,000 in stock-based compensation expense during the three and six months ended 

June 30, 2021, respectively, related to stock options activity. As of June 30, 2021, total unrecognized stock-based compensation expense was approximately 
$21,198,000, which is expected to be recognized as an operating expense in the Company’s consolidated statement of operations and other comprehensive 
loss over the weighted average remaining period of 2.5 years. During the three and six months ended June 30, 2021, the Company granted stock options to 
purchase 122,500 shares of common stock with an average grant date fair value of $10.18 per share and stock options to purchase 991,000 shares of 
common stock with an average grant date fair value of $11.43 per share, respectively. 

The intrinsic value of exercisable but unexercised in-the-money stock options at June 30, 2022 was approximately $4,056,000, based on a weighted 
average grant date fair value of $3.77 per share on June 30, 2022.  
 

Restricted Stock Units 

On October 3, 2019, the Company granted 100,000 restricted stock units (“RSUs”) with time-based vesting conditions to an executive officer 
having an average grant date fair value of $7.53 per share. The RSUs vest in three equal installments beginning on the grant date, and annually on each 
anniversary of the grant date thereafter, subject to the recipient’s continued service on each applicable vesting date. Compensation expense is recognized on 
a straight-line basis.

 
On February 5, 2020, the Company granted 150,000 RSUs with time-based vesting conditions to an executive officer. One-half of the RSUs vested 

on September 30, 2021, and the balance vested on March 31, 2022. On March 31, 2020, the Company granted 50,000 RSUs with time-based vesting 
conditions to an executive officer. The RSUs vest in three equal installments beginning on the 
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grant date, and annually on each anniversary of the grant date thereafter, subject to the recipient’s continued service on each applicable vesting date. 
Compensation expense is recognized on a straight-line basis.

On August 21, 2020, the Company granted 20,000 RSUs with time-based vesting conditions to an executive officer.  The RSUs vest in three equal 
installments beginning on the grant date, and annually on each anniversary of the grant date thereafter, subject to the recipient’s continued service on each 
applicable vesting date. Compensation expense is recognized on a straight-line basis.

 
The following table summarizes the RSU activity under the Company’s 2016 Omnibus Incentive Plan for the six months ended June 30, 2022:

 

Restricted Stock Units  Number of Shares   

Weighted Average Grant 
Date Fair Value Per 

Share  

Nonvested balance at December 31, 2021   98,335   $ 18.21  
Vested/Released   (91,668 )  $ 18.09  
Nonvested balance at June 30, 2022   6,667   $ 19.87  

 
The Company recognized approximately $33,000 and $827,000 in stock-based compensation during the three and six months ended June 30, 2022, 

respectively, related to RSU activity. As of June 30, 2022, total unrecognized stock-based compensation was approximately $19,000 which is expected to 
be recognized as an operating expense in the Company’s consolidated statement of operations and other comprehensive loss with a weighted average 
remaining period of less than 1 year. The Company recognized approximately $371,000 and $738,000 in stock-based compensation during the three and six 
months ended June 30, 2021, respectively, related to RSU activity. As of June 30, 2021, total unrecognized stock-based compensation was approximately 
$2,035,000.  

 

Stock-based Compensation

Stock-based compensation expense for the three and six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021 was included in the Company’s consolidated 
statement of operations and other comprehensive loss as follows: 

 

  
Three Months Ended

June 30,   Six Months Ended June 30,  
(in thousands)  2022   2021   2022   2021  
General and administrative  $ 1,012   $ 1,349   $ 2,648   $ 2,463  
Research and development   1,297    1,505    2,672    2,827  
Total  $ 2,309   $ 2,854   $ 5,320   $ 5,290  

 

8.        Warrants

The Company had one tranche of common stock warrants outstanding at June 30, 2022.  The tranche was exercisable for an aggregate of 882,071 
shares of common stock with an exercise price of $9.38 per share when issued on December 27, 2017. These warrants were issued with a 5-year term and 
expire on December 26, 2022.  The intrinsic value of exercisable but unexercised in-the-money common stock warrants at June 30, 2022 was zero based on 
a fair value of $2.49 per share on June 30, 2022. The Company had another tranche of warrants exercisable for 1,500 shares of common stock that were 
issued on June 15, 2015 with an exercise price of $2.70 per share that expired at the end of their 7-year term on June 15, 2022. 

Each tranche of warrants was evaluated under ASC 480, Distinguishing Liabilities from Equity, and ASC 815, Derivatives and Hedging, and the 
Company determined that equity classification was appropriate.
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The following table shows common stock warrants outstanding as of June 30, 2022:
 

  

Warrant Issued
June 15, 2015-

Tranche 1   

Warrant Issued
December 27, 2017-

Tranche 2   Total  

Shares remaining to be issued as of December 31, 2021   62,611    789,358    851,969  
Issued via cashless exercises   (9,549 )   —    (9,549 )
Withheld as payment to cover issued shares   (51,562 )   —    (51,562 )
Expired   (1,500 )   —    (1,500 )
Shares remaining to be issued as of June 30, 2022   0    789,358    789,358  

 
9.        Collaboration Revenue

The Company recognizes collaboration revenue under certain of the Company’s license or collaboration agreements that are within the scope of 
ASC 606. The Company’s contracts with customers typically include promises related to licenses to intellectual property and research and development 
services.  If the license to the Company’s intellectual property is determined to be distinct from the other performance obligations identified in the 
arrangement, the Company recognizes revenue from non-refundable, up-front fees allocated to the license when the license is transferred to the licensee 
and the licensee is able to use and benefit from the license. For licenses that are bundled with other promises, the Company utilizes judgment to assess the 
nature of the combined performance obligation to determine whether the combined performance obligation is satisfied over time or at a point in time and if, 
over time, the appropriate method of measuring progress for purposes of recognizing revenue from non-refundable, up-front fees. The Company’s contracts 
may include options to acquire additional goods and/or services. 

The terms of the Company’s arrangements with customers typically include the payment of one or more of the following: (i) non-refundable, up-
front payment, (ii) development, regulatory and commercial milestone payments, (iii) future options and (iv) royalties on net sales of licensed products. 
Accordingly, the transaction price is generally comprised of a fixed fee due at contract inception and variable consideration in the form of milestone 
payments due upon the achievement of specified events and tiered royalties earned when customers recognize net sales of licensed products. The Company 
measures the transaction price based on the amount of consideration to which it expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring the promised goods 
and/or services to the customer. The Company utilizes the “most likely amount” method to estimate the amount of variable consideration, to predict the 
amount of consideration to which it will be entitled for its one open contract. Amounts of variable consideration are included in the transaction price to the 
extent that it is probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognized will not occur when the uncertainty associated with the 
variable consideration is subsequently resolved. Milestone payments that are not within the control of the Company or the licensee, such as those 
dependent upon receipt of regulatory approval, are not considered to be probable of achievement until the triggering event occurs. At the end of each 
reporting period, the Company reevaluates the probability of achievement of each milestone and any related constraint, and, if necessary, adjusts its 
estimate of the overall transaction price. Any such adjustments are recorded on a cumulative catch-up basis, which would affect revenue and net loss in the 
period of adjustment.

For arrangements that include sales-based royalties, including milestone payments based upon the achievement of a certain level of product sales, 
the Company recognizes revenue upon the later of: (i) when the related sales occur or (ii) when the performance obligation to which some or all of the 
payment has been allocated has been satisfied (or partially satisfied). To date, the Company has not recognized any development, regulatory or commercial 
milestones or royalty revenue resulting from any of its collaboration arrangements. Consideration that would be received for optional goods and/or services 
is excluded from the transaction price at contract inception.

The Company allocates the transaction price to each performance obligation identified in the contract on a relative standalone selling price basis, 
when applicable. However, certain components of variable consideration are allocated specifically to one or more particular performance obligations in a 
contact to the extent both of the following criteria are met: (i) the terms of the payment relate specifically to the efforts to satisfy the performance obligation 
or transfer the distinct good or service and (ii) allocating the variable amount of consideration entirely to the performance obligation or the distinct good or 
service is consistent with the allocation objective of the standard whereby the amount allocated depicts the amount of consideration to which the entity 
expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring the promised goods or services. The Company develops assumptions that require judgment to determine 
the standalone selling price for each performance obligation identified in each contract. The key assumptions utilized in determining the standalone selling 
price for each performance obligation may include forecasted revenues, development timelines, estimated research and development costs, discount rates, 
likelihood of exercise and probabilities of technical and regulatory success.

Revenue is recognized based on the amount of the transaction price that is allocated to each respective performance obligation when or as the 
performance obligation is satisfied by transferring a promised good and/or service to the customer. For performance 
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obligations that are satisfied over time, the Company recognizes revenue by measuring the progress toward complete satisfaction of the performance 
obligation using a single method of measuring progress which depicts the performance in transferring control of the associated goods and/or services to the 
customer. The Company uses input methods to measure the progress toward the complete satisfaction of performance obligations satisfied over time. The 
Company evaluates the measure of progress each reporting period and, if necessary, adjusts the measure of performance and related revenue recognition. 
Any such adjustments are recorded on a cumulative catch-up basis, which would affect revenue and net loss in the period of adjustment. The Company 
measures progress toward satisfaction of the performance obligation over time as effort is expended.

Collaboration Agreement with Merck

On November 14, 2017, the Company entered into a collaboration agreement (the “Merck Collaboration Agreement”) with Merck Sharp & Dohme 
Corp. (“Merck”) for a partnership to research and develop certain of the Company’s proprietary biologics that target certain autoimmune disease 
indications (the “Initial Indications”). The Company viewed the Merck Collaboration Agreement as a component of its development strategy since it 
allowed the Company to advance its autoimmune programs in partnership with a world class pharmaceutical company, while allowing its continued focus 
on its more advanced cancer programs. The research program outlined in the Merck Collaboration Agreement entailed (1) the Company’s research, 
discovery and development of certain Immuno-STATTM drug product candidates up to the point of demonstration of certain biologically relevant effects 
(“Proof of Mechanism”) and (2) the further development by Merck of the Immuno-STAT drug product candidates that have demonstrated Proof of 
Mechanism (the “Proposed Product Candidates”) up to the point of demonstration of all or substantially all of the properties outlined in such Proposed 
Product Candidates’ profiles as described in the Merck Collaboration Agreement. The research collaboration term under the Merck Collaboration 
Agreement expired on December 31, 2021. Because the Company has determined to prioritize and strategically focus on its oncology programs in its IL-2 
based CUE-100 series, the Company is not currently pursuing further development of these Immuno-STAT drug product candidates at this time. 

In exchange for the licenses and other rights granted to Merck under the Merck Collaboration Agreement, Merck paid to the Company a $2.5 
million nonrefundable up-front payment. The Merck Collaboration Agreement required the Company to use the first $2.5 million of milestone payments it 
received under the agreement to fund contract research. 

As it relates to the Merck Collaboration Agreement, the Company recognized the up-front payment associated with its one open contract as a 
contract liability upon receipt of payment as it requires deferral of revenue recognition to a future period until the Company performed its obligations under 
the arrangement. Amounts expected to be recognized as revenue within the twelve months following the balance sheet date are classified in current 
liabilities. Amounts not expected to be recognized as revenue within the twelve months following the balance sheet date are classified as contract liabilities, 
net of current portion. The Company determined that there was one performance obligation, consisting of the license and research development services.  
Thus, the transaction price of $2.5 million was allocated to the single performance obligation.

Aside from the $2.8 million in milestone payments earned to date, the Company does not believe that any variable consideration should be included 
in the transaction price at June 30, 2022.  The Company’s assessment ensured that estimates of variable consideration would be included in the transaction 
price only to the extent the Company had a high degree of confidence that revenue would not be reversed in a subsequent reporting period.  For the three 
months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, the Company recorded approximately $0 and $704,000, respectively, in collaboration revenue related to the Merck 
Collaboration Agreement. For the six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, the Company recorded approximately $0 and $1,469,000, respectively, in 
collaboration revenue related to the Merck Collaboration Agreement. The Company did not record short or long-term research and development liabilities 
on its balance sheet dated June 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021, as the performance obligation was completed on December 31, 2021. 

Collaboration Agreement with LG Chem

On November 6, 2018, the Company entered into a collaboration agreement (the “LG Chem Collaboration Agreement”) with LG Chem Ltd. (“LG 
Chem”) related to the development of the Company’s Immuno-STATs focused in the field of oncology.  Pursuant to the LG Chem Collaboration 
Agreement, the Company granted LG Chem an exclusive license to develop, manufacture and commercialize the Company’s lead product, CUE-101, as 
well as Immuno-STATs that target T cells against two additional cancer antigens, in certain Asian countries (collectively, the “LG Chem Territory”).  On 
April 30, 2021, LG Chem’s option pursuant to the Global License and Collaboration Agreement entered into between the Company and LG Chem on 
December 18, 2019 and as amended on November 5, 2020 (the "Global License and Collaboration Agreement"), expired, and accordingly the Company no 
longer has any material obligations under the Global License and Collaboration Agreement.  In June 2021, after ongoing discussions regarding the 
selection of the second of the two additional cancer antigens, LG Chem and the Company agreed to let the selection period expire without a second antigen 
being selected.  The Company retains rights to develop and commercialize all assets included in the LG Chem Collaboration Agreement in the United 
States and in global markets outside of the LG Chem Territory.  In exchange 
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for the licenses and other rights granted to LG Chem under the LG Chem Collaboration Agreement, LG Chem made a $5.0 million equity investment in 
common stock of the Company and a $5.0 million nonrefundable up-front cash payment.  The Company is also eligible to receive up to an additional 
$400.0 million in research, development, regulatory and sales milestones.  In addition, the LG Chem Collaboration Agreement also provides that LG Chem 
will pay the Company tiered single-digit percentage royalties on net sales of commercialized drug product candidates in the LG Chem Territory.  

On May 16, 2019, LG Chem paid the Company a $2.5 million milestone payment for the U.S. Food and Drug Administration’s (“FDA”) acceptance 
of the investigational new drug application (“IND”) for the Company’s lead drug product candidate, CUE-101, pursuant to the LG Chem Collaboration 
Agreement.  The $2.5 million milestone payment was recorded as a contract liability upon receipt of payment as it requires deferral of revenue recognition 
to a future period until the Company performs its obligations under the arrangement. Of the $2.5 million milestone payment, approximately $412,500 was 
recognized as tax withholding, shown as income tax expense on the consolidated statement of operations and other comprehensive loss. 

On December 7, 2020, the Company earned a $1.25 million milestone payment on the selection of a pre-clinical candidate pursuant to the LG Chem 
Collaboration Agreement.  The $1.25 million milestone payment was recorded as a contract liability upon receipt. Revenue related to this milestone 
payment will be recognized by the Company pursuant to the Company’s revenue recognition policy in relation to the performance of its obligations related 
to the development of this pre-clinical candidate. Of the $1.25 million milestone payment, approximately $206,250 was withheld as payment of foreign tax 
withholding and shown as income tax expense on the consolidated statement of operations and other comprehensive loss. 

On November 23, 2021 the Company earned a $3 million milestone payment for the selection of a clinical product candidate in partnership with LG 
Chem. The $3 million milestone payment was recorded as a contract liability upon receipt. Revenue related to this milestone payment will be recognized 
by the Company pursuant to the Company’s revenue recognition policy in relation to the performance of its obligations related to the development of this 
preclinical candidate. Of the $3 million milestone payment, approximately $495,000 was withheld as payment of foreign tax withholding and shown as 
income tax expense on the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss. Cash was collected in relation to this milestone payment in 
February 2022.

Aside from the $6.75 million in milestone payments earned to date, the Company does not believe that any variable consideration should be 
included in the transaction price as of June 30, 2022.  Such assessment considered the application of the constraint to ensure that estimates of variable 
consideration would be included in the transaction price only to the extent the Company had a high degree of confidence that revenue would not be 
reversed in a subsequent reporting period. The Company will re-evaluate the transaction price, including the estimated variable consideration included in 
the transaction price and all constrained amounts, in each reporting period and as other changes in circumstances occur. For the three months ended June 
30, 2022 and 2021, the Company recognized revenue of approximately $26,000 and approximately $2,035,000, respectively, related to the LG Chem 
Collaboration Agreement. For the six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, the Company recognized revenue of approximately $1,026,000 and 
approximately $2,823,000, respectively, related to the LG Chem Collaboration Agreement. The Company did not record short or long-term research and 
development liabilities on its balance sheet dated June 30, 2022, as the performance obligation was met and completed. As of December 31, 2021, the 
Company recorded short- and long-term research and development liabilities on its balance sheet of approximately $645,000. Research and development 
cost sharing provisions under the agreement expired on March 31, 2022.

Capitalization of Contract Costs

The Company considered the capitalization of contract costs under the guidance in ASC 340-40, Other Assets and Deferred Costs: Contracts with 
Customers.  There were no contract costs identified in the Merck Collaboration Agreement.  As it related to the LG Chem Collaboration Agreement, the 
Company capitalized license expenses of approximately $908,000 as of June 30, 2022, paid to Einstein pursuant to the Einstein License Agreement which 
requires the Company to pay a percentage of sublicenses related to the Company’s patent rights for components of its core technology that is licensed from 
Einstein. This amount is comprised of approximately $438,000 of capitalized license expenses related to the up-front payment received from LG Chem in 
December 2018, approximately $313,000 in capitalized license expenses related to the milestone payment received in June 2019, and approximately 
$157,000 in capitalized license expenses related to the milestone payment received in December 2020, net of accumulated amortization on all capitalized 
license expenses of approximately $908,000.  As of June 30, 2022, no capitalized license expenses net of accumulated amortization were included in 
prepaid expenses and other short-term assets related to the LG Chem Collaboration Agreement. As of December 31, 2021, $80,000 was included in prepaid 
expenses and other short-term assets. 
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10.       Commitments and Contingencies 

Einstein License Agreement 

In 2015, the Company entered into the Einstein License Agreement with Einstein for certain patent rights relating to the Company’s core technology 
platform for the engineering of biologics to control T cell activity, precision, immune-modulatory drug product candidates, and two supporting technologies 
that enable the discovery of costimulatory signaling molecules (ligands) and T cell targeting peptides. The Company entered into an amended and restated 
license agreement on July 31, 2017, as amended on October 2018, which modified certain obligations of the parties under the Einstein License Agreement. 
For the three months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, the Company incurred approximately $0 and $18,750, respectively, in fees and expenses to Einstein in 
relation to this license.  For the six months ended June 30, 2022 and June 30, 2021, the Company incurred approximately $52,000 and $37,500, 
respectively, in fees and expenses to Einstein in relation to this license. 

The Company’s remaining commitments with respect to the Einstein License Agreement are based on the attainment of future milestones. The 
aggregate amount of milestone payments that may be made under the Einstein License Agreement equals up to $1.85 million for each product, process or 
service that use the patents covered by the Einstein License Agreement, including certain technology received from Einstein relating thereto (“Licensed 
Products”), and up to $1.85 million for each new indication of a Licensed Product. Additionally, the aggregate amount of one-time milestone payments 
based on cumulative sales of all Licensed Products equals up to $5.75 million. 

Collaboration Agreement with Merck

See discussion of the Merck Collaboration Agreement in Note 9.

Collaboration Agreement with LG Chem

See discussion of the LG Chem Collaboration Agreement in Note 9.

Contingencies 

The Company accrues for contingent liabilities to the extent that the liability is probable and estimable. There are no accruals for contingent 
liabilities in the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

The Company may be subject to various legal proceedings from time to time as part of its business. As of June 30, 2022, the Company was not a 
party to any legal proceedings or threatened legal proceedings, the adverse outcome of which, individually or in the aggregate, would have a material 
adverse effect on its business, financial condition or results of operations.

11.      Leases
 

The Company leased approximately 19,900 square feet of office space in Cambridge, Massachusetts under the Laboratory and Office Lease (as 
defined below) which began in May 2018 and was terminated effective April 2022, as discussed further below. Upon adoption of ASC 842, the Company 
recorded a right-of-use asset and corresponding lease liability for the Lease on January 1, 2019, by calculating the present value of lease payments, 
discounted at 6%, the Company’s estimated incremental borrowing rate annually, over the 2-year remaining term.

The Company accounts for leases under ASC 842 using an estimated incremental borrowing rate, which is derived from information available at the 
lease commencement date, to determine the present value of lease payments.  The Company's incremental borrowing rate represents the rate of interest that 
it would have to pay to borrow over a similar term and an amount equal to the lease payments in a similar economic environment.
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On January 18, 2018, the Company entered into an operating lease agreement for its laboratory and office space in Cambridge, Massachusetts at 21 
Erie Street, for the period from May 1, 2018 through April 30, 2021 (the “Laboratory and Office Lease”).  The Laboratory and Office Lease contains 
escalating payments during the lease period.  Upon execution of the Laboratory and Office Lease, the Company prepaid three months of rent, two of which 
will be held in escrow and credited against future rent payments and the other of which was applied to the first month’s rent. The Company also prepaid 
seven and one-half months’ rent pursuant to an amendment to the lease agreement executed on June 18, 2018.  These amounts were recorded to deposits 
and prepaid expenses, respectively, at December 31, 2018. On June 18, 2018, the Company entered into an amendment to the Laboratory and Office Lease 
that provided the Company with a reduction in rental fees for its office and laboratory space in exchange for prepayment of a portion of the fees. This 
amendment was effective beginning on May 15, 2018.

The monthly rent payment due under the Laboratory and Office Lease, as amended, was $330,550 until April 2021 and increased to $375,174 until 
its termination, as discussed below. 

On September 20, 2018, the Company entered into an operating lease for additional laboratory space at 21 Erie Street, Cambridge, Massachusetts 
for the period from October 15, 2018 through April 14, 2021 (the “Additional Laboratory Lease”). The Additional Laboratory Lease contains escalating 
payments during the lease period. The monthly rental rate under the Additional Laboratory Lease was $72,600 for the first 12 months and $78,600 for the 
remainder of the term. Upon execution of the Additional Laboratory Lease, the Company prepaid 12 months’ rent pursuant to the lease agreement executed 
on September 20, 2018.    

On September 19, 2019, the Company entered into a second amendment to the Additional Laboratory Lease that removed one holding room from 
the additional laboratory space. The amendment was effective beginning on October 1, 2019. The monthly rental rate under the Additional Laboratory 
Lease decreased from $78,600 to $58,995 for the remainder of the lease term. The partial termination of the lease did not change the classification of the 
lease and remained accounted for as an operating lease. The weighted-average discount rate remained the same at 6%. The Company accounted for the 
lease modification under ASC 842 that removed one holding room by electing Approach 1, which remeasured the right-of-use asset on the basis of the 
amount of the liability change. The modification of the partial termination resulted in a reduction to right-of-use asset and lease liability of $335,465 and 
$327,079, respectively. The difference of $8,386 was recorded as a loss to the right-of-use asset as of December 31, 2020. 
 

On June 24, 2020, the Company entered into a second amendment to the Laboratory and Office Lease. Pursuant to the amendment (1) the term of 
the lease was extended to June 14, 2022 and (2) the monthly rental rate for the last 14 months of the lease term was increased to $375,174. The Company 
determined that the second amendment should be accounted for as a lease modification applicable under ASC 842, not as a separate contract, with an 
effective date of lease modification of May 14, 2020. At the effective date of modification, the Company recorded an adjustment to the right-of-use asset 
and lease liability in the amount of approximately $4,826,000.

 
On July 20, 2020, the Company entered into a third amendment to the Additional Laboratory Lease. Pursuant to the third amendment, the term of 

the lease was extended to June 14, 2022. The Company determined that the amendment should be accounted for as a lease modification applicable under 
ASC 842, not as a separate contract, with an effective date of lease modification of August 4, 2020, when the agreement was fully executed. At the 
effective date of modification, the Company recorded an adjustment to the right-of-use asset and lease liability in the amount of approximately $813,000.

 
 On October 22, 2021, the Company entered into a third amendment to the Laboratory and Office Lease. Pursuant to the third amendment (1) the 

term of the lease was extended to March 14, 2024 and (2) the monthly rental rate for the last 21 months of the lease term was increased from $375,174 to 
$388,305.   

 
On January 25, 2022, the Company entered into the fourth amendment to the Additional Laboratory Lease. Pursuant to the fourth amendment (1) the 

term of the lease was extended to March 14, 2024 and (2) the monthly rental rate for the amendment will increase from $62,588 to $64,466 on October 15, 
2022, and to $66,399 on October 15, 2023. The Company booked an adjustment to increase the right-of-use asset and long-term liability of approximately 
$1,263,000. The Company paid a security deposit of approximately $22,000 related to this amendment.

On March 28, 2022, the Company entered into a License Agreement (the “License”) with MIL 40G, LLC (the “Licensor”), pursuant to which the 
Company will lease approximately 13,000 square feet of office, research and development and laboratory space located at 40 Guest Street, Boston, 
Massachusetts 02135 (the “Premises”). The Company relocated its corporate headquarters to the Premises in April 2022.  On March 28, 2022, the 
Company terminated the Laboratory and Office Lease with an effective date of April 30, 2022. The Company performed an analysis of the accounting 
implications of this termination based on ASC 360 Impairments and Abandonments guidance. For the six months ended June 30, 2022, the Company 
recorded an adjustment to decrease the right-of-use asset and lease liability of approximately $8,124,000 and $8,382,000, respectively, and recorded a gain 
on right-of-use asset included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income and gain of approximately $258,000.
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 The Company recognized a right of use asset of approximately $9,056,000 and an operating lease liability of approximately $9,056,000 which were 

recorded as of the Term Commencement Date related to the License.

The term of the License commenced on April 15, 2022 (the “Term Commencement Date”) and expires on April 14, 2026 (the “Term”). The License 
has a monthly rental rate of $200,700 for the first year of the Term, $208,728 for the second year of the Term, $217,077 for the third year of the Term and 
$225,760 for the remainder of the Term. Pursuant to the License, the Company prepaid two months of rent and a security deposit. The Licensor is obligated 
under the License to provide certain services to the Company, including providing certain gases, chemicals and equipment to the Premises’ laboratory 
space, IT support, security, office support and health and safety training. The Licensor has the right to terminate the License for Cause (as defined in the 
License). 

On May 3, 2022, the Company entered into the First Amendment to the License ("First Amendment”) with the Licensor, pursuant to which the 
License was expanded to include an additional room effective July 15, 2022. In consideration of the First Amendment, the Security Deposit was increased 
from $225,760 to $235,884 effective July 15, 2022. Upon execution of the First Amendment, the Company prepaid three months of rent, two of which will 
be held in escrow and credited against future rent payments and the other of which was applied to the first month’s rent. Effective July 15, 2022, the 
monthly rental rate under the First Amendment increased to $209,700 from $200,700.

On May 31, 2022, the Company entered into an operating lease for additional laboratory space at 40 Guest Street, Boston, Massachusetts for the 
period from December 1, 2022 through December 1, 2024 (the “40G Additional Laboratory Lease”). The 40G Additional Laboratory Lease contains 
escalating payments during the lease period. The monthly rental rate under the 40G Additional Laboratory Lease is $59,152 for the first 12 months and 
$61,519 for the remainder of the term. Under the terms of this lease agreement, the Company will prepay three months of rent, two of which will be held in 
escrow and credited against future rent payments and the other of which was applied to the first month’s rent.  

 For the three and six months ended June 30, 2022, the Company recorded approximately $128,000 in non-cash interest expense to the lease 
liability.

At June 30, 2022, the Company recorded approximately $9,899,000 to operating lease right-of-use asset, and approximately $3,196,000 and 
$6,757,000 to the short-term and long-term operating lease liability, respectively.  At December 31, 2021, the Company recorded approximately $9,809,876 
to operating lease right-of-use asset, and approximately $4,931,675 and $5,121,179 to short- and long-term operating lease liability, respectively.  As of 
June 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021, a security deposit of approximately $803,000 was included in deposits on the Company’s consolidated balance 
sheet related to the Laboratory and Office Lease. Cash was collected after the six months ended June 30, 2022.

Future minimum lease payments under the leases in effect at June 30, 2022 are as follows: 
 

Year  (in thousands)  
2022  $ 1,584  
2023   3,255  
2024   2,742  
2025   2,679  
2026   783  
Total lease payment  $ 11,043  
Less: present value discount   (1,091 )

Total  $ 9,952  
 

Total rent expense of approximately $1,105,000 and $1,223,000 was included in the consolidated statement of operations and other comprehensive 
loss for the three months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively. Total rent expense of approximately $2,439,000 and $2,445,000 was included in the 
consolidated statement of operations and other comprehensive loss for the six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively. Other information 
pertaining to the Company’s operating leases for the three and six months ended June 30, 2022 is summarized in the table below.
 

Other information (in thousands)  

Three Months
Ended

June 30, 2022  

Six Months
Ended

June 30, 2022  
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement
   of lease liabilities:

     

Operating cash flows from operating leases  $ (100 ) $ (2,272 )
Operating lease cost  $ 1,105  $ 2,439  
Weighted average discount rate  5.75%  5.75%  
Weighted average remaining lease term  3.79 years  3.79 years  
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12.     Subsequent Events
 
There were no material subsequent events to report through the date of this filing.  
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations of Cue Biopharma, Inc. and its subsidiary 
(“Cue Biopharma”, “we”, “us”, “our” or the “Company”) should be read in conjunction with our financial statements and accompanying notes included 
in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and the financial statements and accompanying notes thereto for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021 and the 
related Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed by us 
with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC, on March 16, 2022, or the 2021 Annual Report.

Overview
 

We are a clinical-stage biopharmaceutical company developing a novel class of injectable biologics to selectively engage and modulate tumor-
specific T cells directly within the patient’s body. We believe our proprietary Immuno-STAT™ (Selective Targeting and Alteration of T Cells) platform, as 
described below, will allow us to harness the potential of the patient’s intrinsic immune repertoire to fully exploit its potential to fight cancer and restore 
health while avoiding the deleterious side effects of broad immune activation. In addition to the highly selective modulation of T cell activity, we believe 
the core features of Immuno-STATs offer competitive differentiation, including modularity, manufacturability, and convenient administration that allows for 
versatility to treat a broad range of disease.

We have demonstrated the potential application of our protein designed Immuno-STAT platform in preclinical studies in cancer, chronic infectious 
disease, and autoimmune disease and are currently prioritizing and strategically focusing on drug product candidates for treating cancer in our CUE-100 
series, which exploits rationally engineered interleukin 2, or IL-2, for selective activation of targeted tumor-specific T cells. We are actively seeking third 
party support through partnerships and collaborations, or alternative funding structures, to further develop our programs outside of oncology, including our 
CUE-200, CUE-300 and CUE-400 series.

Our drug product candidates are in various stages of clinical and preclinical development, and while we believe that these candidates hold 
significant potential value, our activities are also subject to significant risks and uncertainties. We have not yet commenced any commercial revenue-
generating operations, have limited cash flows from operations, and will need to access additional capital to fund our growth and ongoing business 
operations.

Our Immuno-STAT Platform Pipeline
 

The pipeline chart below details our current portfolio of oncology-based assets and their stages of development. We have determined to prioritize 
and strategically focus on our oncology programs in our IL-2 based CUE-100 series, and we are actively seeking third party support through partnerships 
and collaborations, or alternative funding structures, to further develop our programs outside of oncology, including our CUE-200, CUE-300 and CUE-400 
series.
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Through a focused and strategic deployment of resources, we have made significant progress advancing the IL-2-based CUE-100 series for 

oncology. CUE-101, representative of the CUE-100 series, is our most advanced clinical stage asset, currently being dosed in a second line and beyond 
Phase 1b monotherapy trial for human papilloma virus, or HPV, driven recurrent/metastatic head and neck cancer, or R/M HNSCC, as well as in a first line 
Phase 1 combination trial with KEYTRUDA® (pembrolizumab), the current standard of care, for R/M HNSCC. We recently completed the enrollment of 
the expansion phase of our monotherapy Phase 1 clinical trial of CUE-101 at the 4mg/kg recommended Phase 2 dose, or RP2D, for the treatment of 
HPV16-driven R/M HNSCC in late-stage treatment-refractory patients. These patients have received and failed several prior lines of systemic therapy, 
including checkpoint inhibitors, or CPIs, such as KEYTRUDA, already approved for first-line HPV+R/M HNSCC. 

To date, CUE-101 has demonstrated a favorable tolerability profile in the monotherapy trial as well as encouraging evidence of anti-tumor clinical 
activity.  As of June 30, 2022, of the 19 evaluable patients treated at the RP2D of 4 mg/kg, we observed a confirmed partial response, or PR,  lasting for 
more than 36 weeks and seven patients with durable stable disease, defined as stable disease on at least two consecutive post-treatment scans lasting at least 
12 weeks.  We have also observed promising preliminary data with respect to CUE-101’s pharmacokinetic, or PK, and pharmacodynamic, or PD, profile, as 
well as biomarker data with respect to circulating HPV DNA as a potential proxy of immune stimulation that may result in anti-tumor effects.  Importantly, 
we have observed what appears to be a positive effect on overall median patient survival and plan to report on these observations as they continue to 
mature.   

We also continued to progress a Phase 1 clinical trial into the first-line R/M HNSCC setting to evaluate the potential activity of CUE-101 in 
combination with Merck Sharp & Dohme Corp., or Merck’s, anti-PD-1 therapy KEYTRUDA. We recently completed the dose escalation portion of this 
trial and have begun to enroll patients in the expansion phase at the RP2D dose of 4mg/kg of CUE-101 in combination with the approved dose of 
KEYRUDA.  At the 2022 American Society of Clinical Oncology (ASCO) on June 6th, we reported on eight of the nine patients treated with combination 
therapy in the dose escalation portion of the trial who had at least one post-dose scan.  Of these eight patients, two patients had confirmed ongoing PRs and 
two additional patients had durable stable disease, defined as stable disease on at least two consecutive post-treatment scans lasting at least 12 weeks. The 
PRs and stable disease observed were at 2mg/kg and 4mg/kg dose concentrations of CUE-101 in combination with KEYTRUDA.  We believe the potential 
activity of CUE-101 with KEYTRUDA is due to their complementary mechanisms of action, specifically, CUE-101’s protein engineered design to 
selectively engage, activate and expand tumor-specific T cells directly in the patient’s body and KEYTRUDA’s mechanism of checkpoint signaling 
blockade that prevents the tumor from using PD-1/PDL-1 to shut down activation of T cells. 

We believe that CUE-101 has the potential to enhance the clinical activity of KEYTRUDA and potentially other CPIs, since the presence of 
expanded tumor-specific T cells is a pre-requisite for and an obligatory target of anti-PD-1 therapy.  As such, we believe that CUE-101 has the potential to 
expand patient reach and enhance therapeutic benefit of CPIs.  

As the most advanced candidate from our IL-2 based CUE-100 series, CUE-101 is exemplary of the Immuno-STAT platform and underscores the 
key immunological targets, or immune activity nodes, required to selectively enhance anti-tumor immunity. Importantly, we believe that the CUE-101 
clinical data we have generated to date reduces the risk profile of the entire IL-2 based CUE-100 series because the core framework of the CUE-100 series 
remains essentially the same for each drug product candidate, except for the targeting peptide epitope within the major histocompatibility complex, or 
MHC, pocket or the human leukocyte antigen, or HLA pocket, in humans. Therefore, with the exception of some protein engineering modifications to 
ensure stability and manufacturability, the core IL-2 framework is a shared molecular feature of all molecules generated within this series including CUE-
102, and the next-generation platform, Neo-STATTM.

We are also advancing additional development candidates within the CUE-100 series that we believe have the potential to treat multiple cancers. 
CUE-102, targets Wilms' tumor-1 protein, or WT1, an oncofetal antigen known to be over-expressed in more than 20 different cancers, including both solid 
tumors (such as colorectal, ovarian, pancreatic, gastric and lung) and hematologic malignancies (such as acute myeloid leukemia, multiple myeloma and 
myelodysplastic syndromes).  Preclinical data from CUE-102 were presented at the New York Academy of Science Frontiers in Cancer Immunotherapy 
meeting in May 2021 and at the Society for Immunotherapy of Cancer, or SITC, meeting in November 2021. We believe these data, including ex vivo data 
with human blood has demonstrated selective amplification of WT1 specific T cells, support the premise of selective WT1 specific T cell activation and 
expansion directly in the patient's body, along with polyfunctional effector function including killing of target cells. In April 2022, we received acceptance 
from the U.S. Food and Drug Administration, or FDA, of our investigational new drug application, or IND, for CUE-102. Based on the premise that CUE-
102 is essentially the same molecular framework as CUE-101, except for nine amino acid sequence difference between HPV-E7 and WT1, the IND was 
supported by clinical and safety data from the ongoing CUE-101 monotherapy trial and did not require additional IND-enabling toxicology studies. We 
have initiated a Phase 1 monotherapy dose-escalation trial with CUE-102 focused on WT1-positive recurrent/metastatic cancers in gastric, pancreatic, 
ovarian and colorectal cancers at a 1mg/kg dose.      

Furthermore, based on our foundational preclinical data with Immuno-STATs targeting the clinically important G12V mutated KRAS T cell epitope 
(including demonstration of selective activation and expansion of T cells expressing G12V-specific T cell receptors), we are now expanding our efforts to 
examine additional KRAS T cell epitopes (G12V/D) presented by the HLA-A03 and -A11 alleles to potentially enhance our patient coverage and market 
reach.  We believe that our platform can generate multiple therapeutic molecules to selectively target KRAS-mutated cancers (such as pancreatic, lung and 
colorectal).  
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In addition, we have expanded the potential reach of the Immuno-STAT platform to address the heterogeneity and diversity of many cancers by 

developing a derivative scaffold of the CUE-100 series containing stable “peptide-less” or “empty” MHC pockets or HLA molecules, to which defined 
peptides of interest may be covalently attached. We refer to this derivative scaffold as Neo-STAT™.   Neo-STAT is designed to provide greater flexibility 
for targeting multiple tumor epitopes, enhancing production efficiencies, decreasing time and cost to manufacture and potentially lending itself to 
personalized neo-antigen strategies in cancer immunotherapy.  We have also endeavored to address a primary resistance mechanism found in a subset of 
solid tumors which escape immune surveillance by a down-regulation of HLA, thereby making the tumor “invisible” to T cells. Our approach entails a 
derivative of the CUE-100 series referred to as RDI-STAT taking advantage of the clinical validation of the CUE-100 series from our Immuno-STAT 
platform, by deploying a targeting moiety on the Fc fragment to bind to a surface protein found on the tumor. Through this approach, we believe we may be 
able to “paint” the tumor with a viral epitope placed within the HLA pocket of the CUE-100 series Immuno-STAT with the potential of invoking a 
redirected immune attack against the tumor.

  
Also, in addition to the CUE-100 series, we have developed three biologic series within the Immuno-STAT platform outside of oncology: CUE-200, 

CUE-300, and CUE-400, each specifically designed through rational engineering to possess distinct signaling modules for desired biological mechanisms 
that may be applied across various diseases.  The CUE-200 series is focused on cell surface receptors including CD80 and/or 4-1BBL to address T cell 
exhaustion associated with chronic infections. The CUE-300 series, for autoimmune diseases, incorporates the inhibitory PD-L1 co-modulator for selective 
inhibition of the autoreactive T cell repertoire.  The CUE-400 series, for autoimmune diseases with diverse or unknown autoantigens, represents a novel 
class of bispecific molecules designed to selectively and effectively expand induced regulatory T cells, or iTregs. We have determined to prioritize and 
strategically focus on our oncology programs in our IL-2 based CUE-100 series, and we are actively seeking third party support through partnerships and 
collaborations, or alternative funding structures, to further develop the CUE-200, CUE-300 and CUE-400 series.  

  

The COVID-19 Pandemic

The continuing COVID-19 pandemic has prompted governments and regulatory bodies throughout the world to enact restrictions on businesses, 
public gatherings and travel to minimize the risk of virus transmission in the population. Beginning in March 2020, we undertook precautionary measures 
intended to help mitigate the risk of virus transmission to our employees, including the establishment of remote working standards, pausing all non-
essential travel worldwide for our employees, and limiting employee attendance at industry events and in-person work-related meetings, to the extent those 
events and meetings are continuing.  

We also established policies and procedures for all personnel who enter our company premises. The policies and procedures we implemented are 
consistent with the rules and guidelines recommended by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, the Commonwealth of Massachusetts and the 
Cities of Cambridge and Boston. However, these actions or additional measures we may undertake may ultimately delay progress of our developmental 
goals or otherwise negatively affect our business. In addition, third-party actions taken to contain the spread of the novel coronavirus, SARS-CoV-2, and 
mitigate public health effects may negatively affect our business. We do not believe any of these actions or disruptions have had a significant impact on our 
productivity or our operations. We continue to have many of these policies and procedures in place in 2022.   

To date, we have experienced supply chain disruptions for lab supplies used in our preclinical research. In addition, in January 2021, we were 
notified by our contract manufacturing organization, or CMO, that the manufacture of our good manufacturing practice, or GMP, material for the CUE-102 
drug product candidate would be delayed by approximately six weeks due to the invocation of the Defense Production Act, or DPA, which gives priority to 
the manufacture of vaccines and other drug products used to prevent or treat COVID-19. The delay in the manufacturing of our CUE-102 GMP batch 
impacted the expected filing date of the CUE-102 IND that was planned for the fourth quarter of 2021 and was filed on March 31, 2022.  

Plan of Operation

Our technology is in the development phase. We believe that our platforms have the potential for creating a diverse pipeline of promising drug 
product candidates addressing multiple medical indications. We intend to maximize the value and probability of commercialization of our Immuno-STAT 
drug product candidates by focusing on researching, testing, optimizing, conducting pilot studies, performing early stage clinical development and 
potentially partnering, where appropriate, for more extensive, later stages of clinical development, as well as seeking extensive patent protection and 
intellectual property development.

Since we are a development-stage company, the majority of our business activities to date and our planned future activities will be devoted to 
furthering research and development.  

A fundamental part of our corporate development strategy is to establish one or more strategic partnerships with leading pharmaceutical or 
biotechnology organizations that will allow us to more fully exploit the potential of our technology platform, such as those described below under the 
headings “Collaboration Agreement with Merck” and “Collaboration Agreement with LG Chem”. 
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Critical Accounting Estimates and Significant Judgments

Our management’s discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is based on our financial statements, which have been 
prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States, or U.S. GAAP. The preparation of our financial statements 
requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities 
at the date of our financial statements, and the reported revenue and expenses during the reported periods. We evaluate these estimates and judgments, 
including those described below, on an ongoing basis. We base our estimates on historical experience, known trends and events, contractual milestones and 
various other factors that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying 
value of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or 
conditions. 

While our significant accounting policies are more fully described in Note 2 to our consolidated financial statements appearing elsewhere in this 
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, we believe that the estimates, assumptions and judgments involved in the accounting policies described in Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations in Item 7 of our 2021 Annual Report have the greatest potential impact on our 
financial statements, so we consider those estimates, assumptions and judgments to be our critical accounting policies and estimates. There were no 
material changes to our critical accounting policies and estimates during the three and six months ended June 30, 2022.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements and Adopted Standards

A discussion of recent accounting pronouncements is included in Note 2 to our consolidated financial statements in this Quarterly Report on Form 
10-Q.

Significant Contracts and Agreements Related to Research and Development Activities

Einstein License Agreement

On January 14, 2015, we entered into a license agreement, as amended and restated on July 31, 2017, and as amended on October 30, 2018, or the 
Einstein License, with Albert Einstein College of Medicine, or Einstein, for certain patent rights relating to our core technology platform for the 
engineering of biologics to control T cell activity, precision, immune-modulatory drug product candidates, and two supporting technologies that enable the 
discovery of costimulatory signaling molecules (ligands) and T cell targeting peptides. 

We hold an exclusive worldwide license, with the right to sublicense, import, make, have made, use, provide, offer to sell, and sell all products, 
processes and services that use the patents covered by the Einstein License, including certain technology received from Einstein related thereto, or the 
Licensed Products. Under the Einstein License, we are required to:

• Pay royalties and amounts based on certain percentage of proceeds, as defined in the Einstein License, from sales of Licensed Products and 
sublicense agreements.

• Pay escalating annual maintenance fees, which are non-refundable, but are creditable against the amount due to Einstein for royalties.

• Make significant payments based upon the achievement of certain milestones, as defined in the Einstein License. As of the six months ended 
June 30, 2022, two of these milestones had been achieved, as we had filed an investigational new drug application, or IND, in 2019, and initiated 
the investigator sponsored Phase 1b neoadjuvant clinical trial for CUE-101 in 2021.  

• Incur minimum product development costs per year until the first commercial sale of the first Licensed Product.

As of June 30, 2022, we were in compliance with our obligations under the Einstein License.

The Einstein License expires upon the expiration of the last obligation to make royalty payments to Einstein which may be due with respect to 
certain Licensed Products, unless terminated earlier under the provisions thereof. The Einstein License includes certain termination provisions if we fail to 
meet our obligations thereunder.
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We account for the costs incurred in connection with the Einstein License in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification, or ASC, 730, 
Research and Development. For the three months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, costs incurred with respect to the Einstein License were $0 and $18,750, 
respectively. For the six months ended June 30, 2022 and June 30, 2021, costs incurred with respect to the Einstein License were $52,000 and $37,500, 
respectively. Such costs are included in research and development costs in our consolidated statements of operations and other comprehensive loss.  

Pursuant to the Einstein License, we issued to Einstein 671,572 shares of our common stock in connection with the consummation of the initial 
public offering of our common stock on December 27, 2017. 
 

Collaboration Agreement with Merck

On November 14, 2017, we entered into an Exclusive Patent License and Research Collaboration Agreement, or the Merck Collaboration 
Agreement, with Merck Sharp & Dohme Corp., or Merck, for a partnership to research and develop certain of our proprietary biologics that target certain 
autoimmune disease indications, or the Initial Indications. We viewed the Merck Collaboration Agreement as a strategic component of our development 
strategy since it has subsidized the research for and advanced our early autoimmune programs through partnership with a world class pharmaceutical 
company, while allowing us to continue focusing on our more advanced cancer programs. The research program outlined in the Merck Collaboration 
Agreement entailed (1) our research, discovery and development of certain Immuno-STAT drug product candidates up to the point of demonstration of 
certain biologically relevant effects, or Proof of Mechanism, and (2) the further development by Merck of the Immuno-STAT drug product candidates that 
have demonstrated Proof of Mechanism, or the Proposed Product Candidates, up to the point of demonstration of all or substantially all of the properties 
outlined in such Proposed Product Candidates' profiles as described in the Merck Collaboration Agreement.   The research collaboration term under the 
Merck Collaboration Agreement expired on December 31, 2021. Because we have determined to prioritize and strategically focus on our oncology 
programs in our IL-2 based CUE-100 series, we are not currently pursuing further development of these Immuno-STAT drug product candidates at this 
time. 

For the purposes of this collaboration, we granted to Merck under the Merck Collaboration Agreement an exclusive license under certain of our 
patent rights, including a sublicense of patent rights licensed from Einstein, to the extent applicable to the specific Immuno-STAT that were elected to be 
developed by Merck.  So long as Merck continues product development on a Proposed Product Candidate, we are restricted from conducting any 
development activities within the Initial Indication covered by such Proposed Product Candidate other than pursuant to the Merck Collaboration 
Agreement. 

In exchange for the licenses and other rights granted to Merck under the Merck Collaboration Agreement, Merck paid to us a $2.5 million 
nonrefundable up-front payment. The Merck Collaboration Agreement required us to deploy the first $2.5 million of milestone payments received under 
the agreement to fund and support contract research. For the three months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, we recorded approximately $0 and $704,000, 
respectively, in collaboration revenue related to the Merck Collaboration Agreement. For the six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, we recorded 
approximately $0 and $1,469,000, respectively, in collaboration revenue related to the Merck Collaboration Agreement. We did not record short or long-
term research and development liabilities on our balance sheet dated June 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021, as the performance obligation was completed 
on December 31, 2021. 

Collaboration Agreement with LG Chem

Effective November 6, 2018, we entered into a collaboration agreement with LG Chem Ltd., or LG Chem, which we refer to as the LG Chem 
Collaboration Agreement, related to the development of Immuno-STATs focused in the field of oncology.
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Pursuant to the LG Chem Collaboration Agreement, we granted LG Chem an exclusive license to develop, manufacture and commercialize our lead 
product, CUE-101, as well as Immuno-STATs that target T cells against two additional cancer antigens, or Product Candidates (to be elected within a 
defined timeframe), in Australia, Japan, Republic of Korea, Singapore, Malaysia, Vietnam, Thailand, Philippines, Indonesia, China (including Macau and 
Hong Kong) and Taiwan, which we refer to collectively as the LG Chem Territory. On December 20, 2018, we reported the selection of WT1 as the first 
target antigen for a Product Candidate under the LG Chem Collaboration Agreement.  In June 2021, after ongoing negotiations regarding the selection of 
the second of the two additional cancer antigens, we decided, along with LG Chem, to allow the defined selection period to expire without a second antigen 
being selected.   We retain rights to develop and commercialize all assets included in the LG Chem Collaboration Agreement in the United States and in 
global markets outside of the LG Chem Territory. Under the LG Chem Collaboration Agreement, we will engineer the selected Immuno-STATs for up to 
three alleles, which are expected to include the predominant alleles in the LG Chem Territory, thereby enhancing our market reach by providing for greater 
patient coverage of populations in global markets, while LG Chem will establish a chemistry, manufacturing and controls, or CMC, process for the 
development and commercialization of selected Product Candidates.  The LG Chem Collaboration Agreement provided LG Chem with the option to select 
one additional Immuno-STAT for an oncology target, or an Additional Immuno-STAT, for an exclusive worldwide development and commercialization 
license.  On December 18, 2019, we and LG Chem entered into a global license and collaboration agreement, which was amended on November 5, 2020.  
We refer to such agreement, as amended, as the Global License and Collaboration Agreement.  The Global License and Collaboration Agreement 
supersedes the provisions of the LG Chem Collaboration Agreement related to LG Chem’s option for an Additional Immuno-STAT but generally does not 
become effective unless and until LG Chem exercises its option, other than certain select provisions including the length of the option period and 
representations, warranties and covenants of the parties.  On April 30, 2021, LG Chem’s option pursuant to the Global License and Collaboration 
Agreement, expired, and accordingly the Global License and Collaboration Agreement no longer contains any material obligations of ours including the 
option to co-develop and co-commercialize the additional program worldwide. 

Under the terms of the LG Chem Collaboration Agreement, LG Chem paid us a $5.8 million non-refundable, non-creditable up-front payment and 
purchased approximately $5.0 million of shares of our common stock at a price per share equal to a 20% premium to the volume weighted-average closing 
price per share over the 30 trading day period immediately prior to the effective date of the LG Chem Collaboration Agreement. We are also eligible to 
receive additional aggregate payments of up to approximately $400.0 million if certain research, development, regulatory and commercial milestones are 
successfully achieved. On May 16, 2019, we earned a $2.5 million milestone payment for FDA acceptance of the IND for our lead drug product candidate, 
CUE-101, pursuant to the LG Chem Collaboration Agreement.  On December 7, 2020, we earned a $1.25 million milestone payment on the selection of a 
pre-clinical candidate pursuant to the LG Chem Collaboration Agreement.  On November 23, 2021, we earned a $3.0 million milestone on the confirmation 
of the Collaboration Product Candidate.  In addition, the LG Chem Collaboration Agreement also provides that LG Chem will pay us tiered single-digit 
royalties on net sales of commercialized Product Candidates, or Collaboration Products, in the LG Chem Territory on a product-by-product and country-by-
country basis, until the later of expiration of patent rights in a country, the expiration of regulatory exclusivity in such country, or ten years after the first 
commercial sale of a Collaboration Product in such country, subject to certain royalty step-down provisions set forth in the LG Chem Collaboration 
Agreement.

Pursuant to the LG Chem Collaboration Agreement, the parties will share research costs related to Collaboration Products, and LG Chem will 
provide CMC process development for selected Product Candidates and potentially additional downstream manufacturing capabilities, including clinical 
and commercial supply for Collaboration Products.  In return for performing CMC process development, LG Chem is eligible to receive low-single digit 
royalty payments on the sales of Collaboration Products sold in all countries outside the LG Chem Territory. The amount of fees and milestone payments, 
as well as whether we receive royalty payments, will depend on the development of the Collaboration Products in the LG Chem Territory by LG Chem. For 
the three months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, we recognized revenue of approximately $26,000 and approximately $2,035,000, respectively, related to 
the LG Chem Collaboration Agreement. For the six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, we recognized revenue of approximately $1,026,000 and 
approximately $2,823,000, respectively, related to the LG Chem Collaboration Agreement. As of June 30, 2022, we recorded short-term research and 
development liabilities on our balance sheet of $0. As of December 31, 2021, we recorded short- and long-term research and development liabilities on our 
balance sheet of approximately $645,000. The majority of the research phase of the collaboration agreement was substantially complete on March 31, 
2022.

The LG Chem Collaboration Agreement includes various representations, warranties, covenants, indemnities and other customary provisions. LG 
Chem may terminate the LG Chem Collaboration Agreement for convenience or in the event we undergo a change of control on a program-by-program, 
product-by-product or country-by-country basis, or in its entirety, at any time following the notice period set forth in the LG Chem Collaboration 
Agreement. Either party may terminate the LG Chem Collaboration Agreement, in its entirety or on a program-by-program, product-by-product or country-
by-country basis, in the event of an uncured material breach. The LG Chem Collaboration Agreement is also terminable by either party (i) upon the 
bankruptcy, insolvency or liquidation of the other party or (ii) for certain activities involving the challenge of certain patents controlled by the other party. 
Unless earlier terminated, the LG Chem Collaboration Agreement will expire on a product-by-product and country-by-country basis upon the expiration of 
the applicable royalty term. 
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Results of Operations
 
Collaboration Revenue

We have not generated commercial revenue from product sales. To date, we have generated collaboration revenue from the Merck Collaboration 
Agreement and the LG Chem Collaboration Agreement.  Collaboration revenue may vary from period to period depending on the progress of our work in 
connection with either or both of our collaboration agreements.

Operating Expenses

We generally recognize operating expenses as they are incurred in two general categories, general and administrative expenses and research and 
development expenses. Our operating expenses also include non-cash components related to depreciation and amortization of property and equipment and 
stock-based compensation, which are allocated, as appropriate, to general and administrative expenses and research and development expenses.

General and administrative expenses consist of salaries and related expenses for executive, legal, finance, human resources, information technology 
and administrative personnel, as well as professional fees, insurance costs, and other general corporate expenses. We expect general and administrative 
expenses to increase in future periods as we incur additional expenses related to our operation as a public company which requires our compliance with 
certain regulatory and legal procedures.  We expect activities supporting our operations including legal, accounting, insurance, employee compensation and 
other expenses to increase.

Research and development expenses consist primarily of compensation expenses, fees paid to consultants, outside service providers and 
organizations (including research institutes at universities), facility expenses, and development and clinical trial expenses with respect to our drug product 
candidates. We charge research and development expenses to operations as they are incurred. We expect research and development expenses to increase in 
the future as we continue to advance the clinical development of CUE-101 and CUE-102, including our ongoing and planned clinical trials, and develop 
potential future products based on our technology and research.  We also believe that rising inflation, supply chain disruptions and labor shortages may also 
contribute to increased research and development costs.

Three and Six Months Ended June 30, 2022 and 2021

Our consolidated statements of operations and other comprehensive loss for the three and six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, as discussed 
herein, are presented below.
 

  Three Months Ended   Six Months Ended  
  June 30,   June 30,  
  2022   2021   2022   2021  
  (in thousands)   (in thousands)  

Collaboration revenue  $ 26   $ 2,739   $ 1,026   $ 4,291  
Operating expenses:             

General and administrative   3,782    4,280    8,938    8,535  
Research and development   9,592    8,762    19,675    18,577  
Gain on right-of-use asset termination   (258 )   —    (258 )   —  

Total operating expenses   13,116    13,042    28,355    27,112  
Loss from operations   (13,090 )   (10,303 )   (27,329 )   (22,821 )
Other (expense) income:             

Interest income, net   88    24    96    37  
Interest expense, net   (206 )   —    (230 )   —  

Total other (expense) income   (118 )   24    (134 )   37  
Net loss  $ (13,208 )  $ (10,279 )  $ (27,463 )  $ (22,784 )
Unrealized loss from available-for-sale
   securities   —    —    —    (7 )
Comprehensive loss  $ (13,208 )  $ (10,279 )  $ (27,463 )  $ (22,791 )
Net loss per common share – basic and diluted  $ (0.37 )  $ (0.33 )  $ (0.81 )  $ (0.74 )
Weighted average common shares outstanding –
   basic and diluted   35,357,343    31,233,794    34,005,410    30,834,522  

 

Collaboration Revenue

Collaboration revenue was $26,000 and $2,739,000 for the three months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively. We recognized collaboration 
revenue of $1,026,000 and $4,291,000 for the six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively. The 
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decrease of approximately $2,713,000 and $3,265,000 during the three and six months ended June 30, 2022 compared to the three and six months ended 
June 30, 2021, respectively, was due to the expiration of the research collaboration term under the Merck Collaboration Agreement on December 31, 2021 
and the completion of the research phase under the LG Chem collaboration at March 31, 2022. All collaboration revenue recognized was related to the 
performance of services under our collaboration agreements with Merck and LG Chem.

General and Administrative 

General and administrative expenses totaled $3,782,000 and $4,280,000 for the three months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively. This 
decrease of $498,000 during the three months ended June 30, 2022 compared to the three months ended June 30, 2021 was due primarily to lower stock-
based compensation related to executive management, professional and consulting fees, as well as employee and board compensation. 

General and administrative expenses for the three months ended June 30, 2022 consisted of expenses related to professional and consulting fees of 
$1,142,000, employee and board compensation of $1,138,000, stock-based compensation of $1,012,000,  rent of  $246,000, insurance expense of $88,000 
and other expenses of $156,000. General and administrative expenses for the three months ended June 30, 2021 consisted of expenses related to stock-
based compensation of $1,349,000, professional and consulting fees of $1,263,000, employee and board compensation of $1,043,000, rent of $267,000, 
insurance expense of $84,000, and other expenses of $358,000.

General and administrative expenses totaled $8,938,000 and $8,535,000 for the six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively. This 
increase of $403,000 was due primarily to higher salary expenses related to market rate salary adjustments and higher patent related legal expenses.   

General and administrative expenses for the six months ended June 30, 2022 consisted of expenses related to professional and consulting fees of 
$2,651,000, stock-based compensation of $2,648,000,  employee and board compensation of $2,541,000, rent of $534,000, insurance expense of $173,000, 
and other expenses of $391,000. General and administrative expenses for the six months ended June 30, 2021 consisted of expenses related to professional 
and consulting fees of $2,662,000, stock-based compensation of $2,463,000, employee and board compensation of $2,158,000, rent of $536,000, insurance 
expense of $169,000, and other expenses of $547,000.

Research and Development 

Research and development expenses totaled $9,592,000 and $8,762,000 for the three months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively. This 
increase of $831,000 during the three months ended June 30, 2022 compared to the three months ended June 30, 2021 was due primarily to higher 
laboratory and drug substance manufacturing costs, employee compensation, other professional fees,  and licensing fees.  
 

Research and development expenses for the three months ended June 30, 2022 included expenses related to employee compensation of $2,578,000, 
clinical expenses of $1,940,000, research and laboratory expenses of $1,933,000, stock-based compensation expense of $1,297,000, rent of $864,000, 
insurance expense of $246,000, depreciation and amortization of $211,000, other professional fees of $98,000, and other expenses of $425,000. Research 
and development expenses for the three months ended June 30, 2021 included expenses related to employee compensation of  $2,346,000, research and 
laboratory expenses of $1,585,000, stock-based compensation expense of $1,505,000, clinical expenses of $1,092,000, rent of $957,000, other professional 
fees of $512,000, depreciation and amortization of $289,000, insurance expense of $243,000, licensing fees of $23,000, and other expenses of $210,000.

 
Research and development expenses totaled $19,675,000 and $18,577,000 for the six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively. This 

increase of $1,098,000 was due primarily to clinical expenses related to the CUE-101 clinical trial and expenses related to the initiation of the Phase 1 
monotherapy clinical trial of CUE-102. Rising inflation, supply chain disruptions, and labor shortages may also contribute to future increases in research 
and development expense.

  
Research and development expenses for the six months ended June 30, 2022 included expenses related to employee compensation of  $5,552,000, 

research and laboratory expenses of $4,334,000, clinical expenses of $3,075,000, stock-based compensation of $2,672,000, rent of $1,914,000, insurance 
expense of $504,000, depreciation and amortization of $491,000, other professional fees of $384,000, licensing fees of $57,000, and other expenses of 
$692,000. Research and development expenses for the six months ended June 30, 2021 included expenses related to employee compensation of  
$4,881,000, research and laboratory expenses of $4,253,000, stock-based compensation of $2,827,000, clinical expenses of $2,154,000, rent of $1,908,000, 
other 
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professional fees of $1,024,000, depreciation and amortization of $577,000, insurance expense of $485,000, licensing fees of $47,000, and other expenses 
of $421,000.

Gain on Right-of-use Asset Termination

Gain on right-of-use asset termination was $258,000 and $0 for the three and six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively. This increase 
of $258,000 was due to the gain on right-of-use asset related to the termination of our operating lease agreement for our laboratory and office space in 
Cambridge, Massachusetts at 21 Erie Street, effective on April 30, 2022.

Interest Income, net

Interest income was $88,000 and $24,000 for the three months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively. This increase of $64,000 was primarily 
due to higher interest yields on our cash and cash equivalents during the three months ended June 30, 2022.

Interest income was $96,000 and $37,000 for the six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively. This increase of $59,000 was primarily 
due to higher interest yields on our cash and cash equivalents during the six months ended June 30, 2022.

Interest Expense, net

Interest expense was $206,000 and $0 for the three months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively. This increase of $206,000 was primarily due 
to cash paid for interest expense related to the proceeds from borrowings under our Loan and Security Agreement, or the Loan Agreement, with Silicon 
Valley Bank, or SVB, of $193,000, and amortization of deferred issuance costs of $9,000. 

Interest expense was $230,000 and $0 for the six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively. This increase of $230,000 was primarily due 
to cash paid for interest expense related to the proceeds from borrowings under our Loan Agreement of $214,000, and amortization of deferred issuance 
costs of $12,000.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We have financed our working capital requirements primarily through private and public offerings of equity securities, cash received from Merck 
and LG Chem under the respective collaboration agreements and borrowings under the Loan Agreement. At June 30, 2022, we had cash and cash 
equivalents totaling $66,126,000 available to fund our ongoing business activities. Additional information concerning our financial condition and results of 
operations is provided in the financial statements included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. 

The amounts that we actually spend for any specific purpose may vary significantly and will depend on a number of factors, including, but not 
limited to, our research and development activities and programs, clinical testing, regulatory approval, market conditions, and changes in or revisions to our 
business strategy and technology development plans. 

In March 2020, we entered into an at-the-market, or ATM, equity offering sales agreement, or the March 2020 Sales Agreement, with Stifel 
Nicolaus & Company, Inc., or Stifel, to sell shares of our common stock for aggregate gross proceeds of up to $35.0 million, from time to time, through an 
“at-the-market” equity offering program under which Stifel acts as sales agent. As of June 30, 2022, we had sold a total of 1,824,901 shares of common 
stock under the March 2020 Sales Agreement for proceeds of $34.3 million, net of commissions paid, but excluding estimated transaction expenses. Due to 
the issuance and sale of all the shares of common stock subject thereto, the March 2020 Sales Agreement terminated in accordance with its terms.

 
On June 22, 2020, we filed a registration statement on Form S-3ASR, which became automatically effective upon filing with the SEC (File No. 333-

239357), or the 2020 Shelf, to register for sale from time to time up to $300.0 million of our common stock, preferred stock, debt securities, warrants, 
rights and/or units in one or more offerings.

 
In June 2020, we entered into an ATM equity offering sales agreement, or the June 2020 ATM Agreement, with Stifel to sell shares of our common 

stock for aggregate gross proceeds of up to $40.0 million, from time to time, through an “at-the-market” equity offering program under which Stifel acted 
as sales agent. As of June 30, 2022, we sold 907,700 shares of common stock under the June 2020 ATM Agreement for proceeds of $10.4 million, net of 
commissions paid, but excluding transaction expenses.  The June 2020 ATM Agreement was terminated prior to entering into the October 2021 ATM 
Agreement (as defined below).  

In October 2021, we entered into an open market sale agreement, or the October 2021 ATM Agreement, with Jefferies LLC, or Jefferies, to sell 
shares of our common stock for aggregate gross proceeds of up to $80.0 million, from time to time, through an ATM equity offering program under which 
Jefferies acts as sales agent.  The October 2021 ATM Agreement will terminate upon the earliest 
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of (a) the sale of $80.0 million of shares of our common stock pursuant to the October 2021 ATM Agreement or (b) the termination of the October 2021 
ATM Agreement by us or Jefferies. During the three and six months ended June 30, 2022, we sold 1,197,394 and 3,117,220 shares, of common stock under 
the October 2021 ATM Agreement for proceeds of approximately $5,982,000, and $16,598,000 net of commission paid, but excluding transaction 
expenses, respectively. As of June 30, 2022, we had sold an aggregate of 3,593,407 shares of common stock under the October 2021 ATM Agreement for 
proceeds of approximately $23.6 million, net of commissions paid, but excluding transaction expenses.

On February 15, 2022, we entered into the Loan Agreement, pursuant to which we have borrowed $10.0 million.  We also may be able to borrow, at 
our option, an additional $10.0 million, if we reach certain milestone events. The term loans under the Loan Agreement, or the Term Loans, bear interest at 
a floating rate per annum equal to the greater of (A) the prime rate (as published in the money rates section of The Wall Street Journal) plus 2.25% and (B) 
5.50%. On the first calendar day of each month, we will be required to make monthly interest payments and commencing on June 30, 2023 (extended to 
December 31, 2023 if the additional term loans are advanced), we will be required to repay the Term Loans in (i) 30 consecutive installments of principal 
plus monthly payments of accrued interest if the additional term loans are not advanced and (ii) 24 months if the additional term loans are advanced. All 
outstanding principal and accrued and unpaid interest under the Term Loans and all other outstanding obligations with respect to the Term Loans are due 
and payable in full on December 1, 2025.

The Loan Agreement permits voluntary prepayment of all, but not less than all, of the Term Loans, subject to a prepayment premium except if the 
facility is refinanced with another SVB facility. Such prepayment premium would be 3.00% of the principal amount of the Term Loans if prepaid prior to 
the first anniversary of the date on which we entered the Loan Agreement, 2.00% of the principal amount of the Term Loan if prepaid on or after the first 
anniversary of the date on which we entered the Loan Agreement but prior to the second anniversary of the date on which we entered the Loan Agreement, 
and 1.00% of the principal amount of the Term Loan if prepaid on or after the second anniversary of the date on which we entered the Loan Agreement. 
Upon prepayment or repayment in full of the Term Loans, we will be required to pay a one-time final payment fee equal to 5.00% of the original principal 
amount of any funded Term Loans being repaid.  

 
If we issue additional equity securities to raise funds, the ownership percentage of our existing stockholders would be reduced. New investors may 

demand rights, preferences or privileges senior to those of existing holders of our common stock. If we issue debt securities, we may be required to grant 
security interests in our assets, could have substantial debt service obligations, and lenders may have a senior position (compared to stockholders) in any 
potential future bankruptcy or liquidation. Additionally, corporate collaboration and licensing arrangements may require us to incur non-recurring and other 
charges, give up certain rights relating to our intellectual property and research and development activities, increase our near and long-term expenditures, 
issue securities that dilute our existing stockholders, issue debt which may require liens on our assets and which will increase our monthly expense 
obligations, or disrupt our management and business.

Cash Flows

The following table summarizes our changes in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash for the six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021:
 
  Six Months Ended  
  June 30,  
  2022   2021  
(in thousands)       
Net cash provided by (used in):       

Operating activities  $ (24,421 )  $ (21,565 )
Investing activities   (89 )   9,119  
Financing activities   26,265    11,500  

Net (decrease)/increase in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash  $ 1,755   $ (946 )
 

Operating Activities 

During the six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, we used cash of $24,421,000 and $21,565,000, respectively, to fund our operating activities. 
Cash used in operating activities during the six months ended June 30, 2022 consisted primarily of our net loss of $27,463,000 and decreases of $1,062,000 
in accrued expenses, $645,000 in research and development contract liability, $258,000 in gain on right-of-use asset termination, $1,023,000 in accounts 
payable, $1,075,000 in deposits, $100,000 in operating lease liability, and $1,268,000 in prepaid expenses and other current assets. Cash used in operating 
activities was partially offset by increases of $5,320,000 in stock-based compensation, $169,000 in operating lease right-of-use asset, $12,000 in 
amortization of debt issuance costs, $43,000 in accretion on final payment of term loan, $518,000 in depreciation and amortization, $2,407,000 in accounts 
receivable, and $4,000 in loss on disposal of fixed assets.
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Cash used in operating activities during the six months ended June 30, 2021 consisted primarily of our net loss of $22,784,000, and increases of 
$2,787,000 in prepaid expenses and $487,000 in accounts receivable, and decreases of $784,000 in accrued expenses, $1,726,000 in research and 
development contract liability, $2,272,000 in operating lease liability, $52,000 in other non-cash items, and $19,000 in gain on sale of fixed assets. Cash 
used in operating activities was partially offset by a decrease of $250,000 in other assets and increases of $922,000 in accounts payable, as well as non-cash 
charges of $632,000 in depreciation and amortization, $5,290,000 in stock-based compensation, and $2,252,000 in amortization of operating lease right-of-
use asset.

Investing Activities 

During the six months ended June 30, 2022, our investing activities used $89,000 in cash, compared to cash provided by investing activities of 
$9,119,000 during the six months ended June 30, 2021. This decrease of $9,208,000 in cash from investing activities was primarily due to the redemption 
of our entire short-term investment in marketable securities partially offset by purchases of property and equipment. Cash used in investing activities during 
the six months ended June 30, 2022 consisted of the purchase of property and equipment of $92,000, offset by cash received from the sale of fixed assets of 
$3,000. Cash provided by investing activities during the six months ended June 30, 2021 consisted of $10,000,000 for the redemption of short-term 
investments and $19,000 of cash received on the sale of fixed assets, partially offset by the purchase of property and equipment of $900,000.

Financing Activities 

During the six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, we generated cash from financing activities of $26,265,000 and $11,500,000, respectively, an 
increase of $14,765,000. Cash from financing activities during the six months ended June 30, 2022 consisted of cash proceeds from the sale of common 
stock pursuant to the October 2021 ATM Agreement of $16,598,000 net of sales agent commissions and fees, and proceeds from borrowings under the 
Loan Agreement of $10,000,000, partially offset by cash used for restricted stock buy-back at vesting of $191,000 and payment of debt issuance costs of 
$142,000. Cash from financing activities during the six months ended June 30, 2021, consisted of cash proceeds from the common stock sold through the 
June 2020 ATM Agreement with Stifel of $10,357,000, net of sales agent commissions and fees, and exercises of common stock options of $1,228,000, 
offset by cash used for restricted stock buy-back at vesting of $85,000.

Funding Requirements

We expect our expenses to increase in connection with our ongoing activities, particularly as we continue the research and development of our 
Immuno-STAT platform, continue ongoing and initiate new clinical trials of and seek marketing approval for our drug product candidates. In addition, we 
expect to incur additional costs associated with operating a public company.  Our expenses will also increase if, and as, we:

• continue the clinical development of our CUE-100 series, including CUE-101, CUE-102, CUE-103 and Neo-STAT;

• leverage our programs to advance our other drug product candidates into preclinical and clinical development;

• seek regulatory approvals for any drug product candidates that successfully complete clinical trials;

• seek to discover and develop additional drug product candidates in the CUE-100 series, including Neo-STATs;

• establish a sales, marketing, medical affairs and distribution infrastructure to commercialize any drug product candidates for which we may 
obtain marketing approval and intend to commercialize on our own or jointly;

• hire additional clinical, quality control and scientific personnel;

• expand our manufacturing, quality, operational, financial and management systems;

• increase personnel, including personnel to support our clinical development, manufacturing and commercialization efforts and our 
operations as a public company;

• maintain, expand and protect our intellectual property portfolio;

• acquire or in-license other drug product candidates and technologies; and

• incur additional legal, accounting and other expenses in operating as a public company.   
 

In the first quarter of 2022, we determined to prioritize and strategically focus on our oncology programs in our CUE-100 series. We are actively 
seeking third party support through partnerships and collaborations, or alternative funding structures, to further develop our programs outside of oncology, 
including our CUE-200, CUE-300 and CUE-400 series.  We also determined to take proactive steps to decrease our office and lab footprint and to 
restructure our Research and Development functions in support of 
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prioritized corporate objectives and strategies. These steps have realized cost savings to date that have been allocated to our key programs.

We believe that our existing cash and cash equivalents as of June 30, 2022 will enable us to fund our operating requirements for at least the next 12 
months. We have based this estimate on assumptions that may prove to be wrong, and we could exhaust our available capital resources sooner than we 
expect.

We will need to raise additional capital or incur indebtedness to continue to fund our operations in the future. Our ability to raise additional funds 
will depend on financial, economic and market conditions, many of which are outside of our control, and we may be unable to raise financing when 
needed, or on terms favorable to us. If we are unable to raise additional funds when needed, we may be required to delay, reduce or eliminate our product 
development or future commercialization efforts, or grant rights to develop and market drug product candidates that we would otherwise prefer to develop 
and market ourselves, which could adversely affect our business prospects, and we may be unable to continue our operations. Because of numerous risks 
and uncertainties associated with the research, development and commercialization of our drug product candidates, we are unable to estimate the exact 
amount of our working capital requirements. Factors that may affect our planned future capital requirements and accelerate our need for additional working 
capital include the following:

• the progress, timing, scope and costs of our clinical trials, including the ability to timely enroll patients in our planned and potential future 
clinical trials;

• the outcome, timing and cost of regulatory approvals by the FDA and other comparable regulatory authorities, including the potential that 
the FDA or other comparable regulatory authorities may require that we perform more studies than those that we currently expect;

• the number and characteristics of drug product candidates that we may in-license and develop;

• our ability to successfully commercialize our drug product candidates, if approved;

• the amount of sales and other revenues from drug product candidates that we may commercialize, if any, including the selling prices for 
such potential products and the availability of adequate third-party reimbursement;

• selling and marketing costs associated with our potential products, including the cost and timing of expanding our marketing and sales 
capabilities;

• the terms and timing of any potential future collaborations, licensing or other arrangements that we may establish;

• cash requirements of any future acquisitions and/or the development of other drug product candidates;

• the costs of operating as a public company;

• the cost and timing of completion of commercial-scale, outsourced manufacturing activities;

• the time and cost necessary to respond to technological and market developments;

• any disputes which may occur between us and Einstein, employees, collaborators or other prospective business partners; and

• the costs of filing, prosecuting, defending and enforcing any patent claims and other intellectual property rights.

A change in the outcome of any of these or other variables with respect to the development of any of our drug product candidates could significantly 
change the costs and timing associated with the development of that drug product candidate. Further, our operating plans may change in the future, and we 
may need additional funds to meet operational needs and capital requirements associated with such operating plans.

Until such time, if ever, as we can generate substantial product revenue, we expect to finance our cash needs through a combination of public or 
private equity offerings, debt financings, collaborations, strategic partnerships or marketing, distribution or licensing arrangements with third parties and 
grants from organizations and foundations. If we raise additional funds by selling shares of our common stock or other equity-linked securities, the 
ownership interest of our current stockholders will be diluted. We may seek to access the public or private capital markets whenever conditions are 
favorable, even if we do not have an immediate need for additional capital at that time. If we raise additional funds through collaborations, strategic 
alliances or marketing, distribution or licensing arrangements with third parties, we may have to relinquish valuable rights to our technologies, future 
revenue streams or drug product candidates or to grant licenses on terms that may not be acceptable to us. If we raise additional funds through debt 
financing, we may have to grant a security interest on our assets to the future lenders, our debt service costs may be substantial, and the lenders may have a 
preferential position in connection with any future bankruptcy or liquidation.
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If we are unable to raise additional capital when needed, we may be required to curtail the development of our technology or materially curtail or 
reduce our operations. We could be forced to sell or dispose of our rights or assets. Any inability to raise adequate funds on commercially reasonable terms 
could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operation and financial condition, including the possibility that a lack of funds could cause 
our business to fail, dissolve and liquidate with little or no return to investors.

Principal Commitments 

During the three and six months ended June 30, 2022, there were no material changes to our contractual obligations and commitments as of 
December 31, 2021 described under Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations in our 2021 Annual Report, 
other than our entry into a new headquarters lease more fully described in Note 11 to our consolidated financial statements appearing elsewhere in this 
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. 
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ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

As a smaller reporting company, we are not required to provide the information required by this Item 3.

ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We are responsible for maintaining disclosure controls and procedures, as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange 
Act of 1934, or the Exchange Act. Disclosure controls and procedures are controls and other procedures designed to ensure that the information required to 
be disclosed by us in the reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods 
specified in the SEC’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that 
information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to our 
management, including our principal executive officer and our principal financial officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required 
disclosure.

Based on our management’s evaluation (with the participation of our principal executive officer and our principal financial officer) of our disclosure 
controls and procedures as required by Rule 13a-15 under the Exchange Act, our principal executive officer and our principal financial officer have 
concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of June 30, 2022, the end of the period covered by this report.

Inherent Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls

Our management, including our principal executive officer and our principal financial officer, do not expect that our disclosure controls or our 
internal control over financial reporting will prevent or detect all errors and all fraud. A control system, no matter how well designed and operated, can 
provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the control system’s objectives will be met. The design of a control system must reflect the fact that 
there are resource constraints, and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs. Further, because of the inherent limitations in all 
control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that misstatements due to error or fraud will not occur or that all control issues 
and instances of fraud, if any, have been detected. These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision-making can be faulty and that 
breakdowns can occur because of a simple error or mistake. Controls can also be circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two 
or more people, or by management override of the controls. The design of any system of controls is based in part on certain assumptions about the 
likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions. 
Projections of any evaluation of control effectiveness to future periods are subject to risks. Over time, controls may become inadequate because of changes 
in conditions or deterioration in the degree of compliance with policies or procedures.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the three months ended June 30, 2022 that have materially affected, or 
are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II. OTHER INFORMATION

ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are not currently a party to any material legal proceedings.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

We operate in a rapidly changing environment that involves a number of risks that could materially affect our business, financial condition or future 
results, some of which are beyond our control.  The occurrence of any of these risks could harm our business, financial condition, results of operations 
and/or growth prospects or cause our actual results to differ materially from those contained in forward-looking statements we have made in this report and 
those we may make from time to time.  In evaluating us and our business, you should carefully consider the information included in this Quarterly Report 
on Form 10-Q and in other documents we file with the SEC and the risk factors previously disclosed in “Part I, Item 1A. Risk Factors” of our 2021 Annual 
Report.   
 

ITEM 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS

None.

ITEM 3. DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES

None.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.

ITEM 5. OTHER INFORMATION

None.
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ITEM 6. EXHIBITS
 
    Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit
Number Exhibit Description

Filed
Herewith Form Exhibit Filing Date Registration/File No.

10.1 First Amendment to the License Agreement, dated May 3, 2022, between Cue 
Biopharma, Inc. and MIL 40G, LLC

X     

10.2 Rider to License Agreement, dated as of July 7, 2022, between Cue Biopharma, 
Inc. and MIL 40G, LLC

X     
 

31.1 Certification Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a) of the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934

X      

31.2 Certification Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a) of the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934

X        

32.1 Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to 
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

X       

101.INS Inline eXtensible Business Reporting Language (XBRL) Instance Document – 
the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because its 
XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL document.

X     

101.SCH Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document X     
101.CAL Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document X     
101.DEF Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document X     
101.LAB Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document X     
101.PRE Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document X     

104 The cover page from the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the 
quarter ended June 30, 2022, has been formatted in Inline XBRL.

X     
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SIGNATURES 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the 
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
 
  Cue Biopharma, Inc.
     
     
Dated:   August 4, 2022  By:  /s/ Daniel R. Passeri
     

    Daniel R. Passeri
Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)

     
Dated:   August 4, 2022  By:  /s/ Kerri-Ann Millar
     

    Kerri-Ann Millar
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
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Exhibit 10.1
 
 
 
 

First Amendment to License Agreement
 

This First Amendment to License Agreement (“First Amendment”) is dated May 3, 2022 (“Effective Date”) and entered into by and 
between Cue Biopharma, Inc. (“Licensee”) and MIL 40G, LLC (“Licensor”).

 
WHEREAS, Licensor and Licensee are parties to a certain License Agreement dated March 28, 2022 (“License Agreement”);

 
WHEREAS, Licensee warrants and represents that, to the best of its knowledge, Licensor has fulfilled its obligations under the 

License Agreement and is not in default of any covenants or obligations contained in the License Agreement;
 

WHEREAS, Licensor and Licensee desire to amend the License Agreement in certain respects as set forth herein; and,
 

WHEREAS, all capitalized terms contained herein shall, unless otherwise defined in this First Amendment, have the same 
meaning as set forth in the License Agreement.

 
NOW THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties 
agree that the License Agreement is hereby amended as follows:

 
1. Licensed Premises. Effective July 15, 2022 (“Expanded Premises Commencement Date”) the License Agreement is hereby 

amended by (i) adding the attached Exhibit 1-A to the existing Exhibit 1, and (ii) adding the following sentences to the end of 
Section 1(a):

 

The License shall be expanded to include Room 4101, as shown on the shaded portion of the floor plan attached hereto as 
Exhibit 1-A of this First Amendment (“Expanded Premises”), as part of the Licensed Premises. For the avoidance of 
doubt, Exhibit 1 of the License Agreement shall remain applicable, and the attached Exhibit 1-A shall be inserted 
immediately thereafter.

 
2. Term. Section 2(a) of the Licensed Agreement is hereby modified be adding the following new sentences to the end of the 

Section:
 

Unless terminated earlier in accordance with this Section 2, the term of this First Amendment (“Expanded Premises 
Term”) shall commence on the Expanded Premises Commencement Date and shall expire on the Expiration Date. Under 
no circumstance shall Licensor be liable to Licensee for failure to provide access to the Expanded Premises on or before 
the Expanded Premises Commencement Date, including but not limited to Force Majeure; provided, however, that if 
Licensor is unable to provide Licensee access to the Expanded Premises on or before the Expanded Premised 
Commencement Date, the Expanded Premised Commencement Date and Expanded Premises Expiration Date shall be 
extended by the number of days Licensor is unable to provide access to the Expanded Premises.

 
3. License Fee. Section 3(a) of the License Agreement is hereby modified by adding the following new paragraph to the end of the 

Section:
 

Effective the Expanded Premises Commencement Date, in addition to the existing License Fee, Licensee shall pay a 
monthly license fee of $9,000.00 for the Expanded Premises

 



(“Expanded Premises Fee”), as shown on Schedule A attached hereto. Except as expressly stated otherwise herein, the 
Expanded Premises Fee shall be subject to all the same terms and conditions as the License Fee.

 
4. Security Deposit. Section 3(d) of the License Agreement is hereby modified by adding the following new sentence to the end of 

the Section:
 

In consideration of the Expanded Premises, the Security Deposit shall be increased from
$225,760.20 to $235,883.98.

 
5. Initial Payment. Section 3(e) of the License Agreement is hereby modified by adding the following new paragraph to the end of 

the Section:
 

Immediately upon the execution of this First Amendment, Licensee shall pay an amount equal to the Expanded Premises 
Fee for the first month of the Expanded Premises Term ($9,000.00), the Expanded Premises Fee for the last month of the 
Expanded Premises Term ($10,123.78), as well as the increase in the Security Deposit commensurate with the addition of 
the Expanded Premises ($10,123.78). As such, Licensee shall pay a total of $29,247.56, on or before the execution of this 
First Amendment.

 
6. Broker. Licensee warrants and represents that Licensee has dealt with no broker in connection with the consummation of this 

First Amendment, and, in the event of any brokerage claims asserted against Licensor predicated upon prior dealings with 
Licensee, Licensee agrees to defend the same and indemnify Licensor against any such claim.

 
7. Ratification. Except as amended herein, all terms and conditions of the License Agreement shall remain unchanged and in full 

force and effect.
 

8. Counterparts. This First Amendment to License Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which shall 
be an original and all of which together shall constitute one and the same document.

 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Licensor and Licensee have duly executed this First Amendment as of the date first written above.
 
 



 
LICENSOR:
By: /s/ Brian Taylor Name: Brian Taylor



LICENSEE:
By: /s/ Daniel Passeri Name: Daniel Passeri

 



 DocuSign Envelope ID: A39281AE-C0BB-4C29-A148-716C47C375D2
 
 
 
 

Schedule A
 

 
Start

 
End

 
License Fee

04/15/22 07/14/22 $200,700.00
07/15/22 04/14/23 $209,700.00
04/15/23 04/14/24 $218,088.00
04/15/24 04/14/25 $226,811.52
04/15/25 04/14/26 $235,883.98
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Exhibit 1-A
 
 
 

 
 



 
Exhibit 10_2

                                                                                    
Rider to License Agreement Vivarium

 
This Rider to License Agreement (“Rider”), is made as of July 7, 2022, by and between MIL 40G, LLC 

(“SmartLabs”), and Cue Biopharma, Inc. (“Licensee”).
 

WHEREAS, SmartLabs and Licensee are parties to that certain License Agreement, as amended, dated March 28, 
2022 (“License Agreement”). All capitalized terms used herein without definition shall have the meanings ascribed to 
them in the License Agreement. This Rider shall be governed by the terms of the License Agreement and if there is any 
conflict between the covenants and representations contained in the License Agreement and the Rider, the terms of the 
License Agreement shall prevail and be binding upon Licensor and Licensee;

 
WHEREAS, all terms and conditions applied to, and all obligations imposed against, Licensee with respect to the 

“License”, “Licensed Premises” and/or “Occupants” (as defined in the License Agreement), shall be equally applied to 
the Vivarium License, Vivarium Premises and Vivarium Occupants (as herein defined); and

 
NOW THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby 

acknowledged, the parties agree as follows:
 

1. Vivarium License. In addition to the License grated pursuant to the License Agreement, SmartLabs grants to 
Licensee the following, which shall constitute the Licensee’s vivarium license (the “Vivarium License”), solely to, 
(i) use as vivarium space consistent with current zoning for the Building and all applicable laws; (ii) conduct 
Licensee’s business; and (iii) collaborate with SmartLabs’ staff and other licensees in accordance with this Rider: 
(i) a non-transferable, non-assignable license to use one (1) standard private procedure room and two (2) standard 
private holding rooms, as shown on Exhibit 1 attached hereto (“Vivarium Premises”), subject to SmartLabs’ 
Rules and Regulations and pursuant to the terms of the Vivarium Service Agreement attached to this Rider as 
Exhibit 2 (“Vivarium Service Agreement”); provided, however that such use is approved by SmartLabs’ 
Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (“IACUC”) in SmartLabs’ sole discretion, and further provided that 
all IACUC promulgated policies, guidelines and rules are followed without exception. For the avoidance of doubt 
the Service Agreement shall remain applicable, and the Vivarium Service Agreement shall supplement the same. In 
the event of conflict between the Service Agreement and Vivarium Service Agreement, the Vivarium Service 
Agreement shall control in relation to this Rider.

 
2. Vivarium Occupants. In addition to the Occupants permitted pursuant to the License Agreement, during the 

Vivarium Term, the Vivarium License shall grant Licensee no more than twelve (12) additional Occupants 
(“Vivarium Occupants”) access to the Vivarium Premises and Shared Premises.

 
3. Term. The term of this Rider (“Vivarium Term”) shall commence December 1, 2022 (“Vivarium 

Commencement Date”) and expire on November 30, 2024 (“Vivarium 
1

 



 
Expiration Date”). For the avoidance of doubt, in the event that the License Agreement is

 
2

 



 

terminated prior to its natural expiration due to a Licensee default during the Vivarium Term, then this Rider shall 
terminate as well.

 
4. Vivarium Fee. Licensee shall pay a monthly license fee equal to $59,152.50, which Licensee shall pay in advance 

on or before the first day of each and every month during the Term (“Vivarium License Fee”). The Vivarium 
License Fee is subject to an automatic four percent (4%) increase on each anniversary of Vivarium Term 
Commencement Date, as shown on Schedule A attached hereto. Licensee shall pay the Vivarium License Fee 
payment by electronic payment to SmartLabs.

 
5. Vivarium Security Deposit. Licensee shall pay a vivarium security deposit equal to

$61,518.60 (“Vivarium Deposit”). The Vivarium Deposit shall be governed by the same terms as any Security 
Deposit as set forth in the Licenses Agreement.

 
6. Initial Payment. Licensee shall pay, immediately upon executing this Rider, an amount equal to the Vivarium 

License Fee for the first month of the Vivarium Term ($59,152.50), the Vivarium License Fee for the last month of 
the Vivarium Term ($61,518.60), and the Vivarium Security Deposit. As such, Licensee shall pay a total of 
$182,189.70 on or before execution of this Rider.

 
7. Brokerage. Licensee warrants and represents that Licensee has dealt with no broker in connection with the 

consummation of this Rider other than N/A (“Broker”), and, in the event of any brokerage claims asserted against 
SmartLabs predicated upon prior dealings with Licensee, Licensee agrees to defend the same and indemnify 
SmartLabs against any such claim.

 
8. Ratification. Except as amended or modified herein, all terms and conditions of the License Agreement shall 

remain unchanged and in full force and effect.
 

9. Counterparts. This Rider may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which shall be an original and 
all of which together shall constitute one and the same document.

 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, SmartLabs and Licensee have duly executed this Rider as of the date first written above.
 

SMARTLABS: LICENSEE:
        
   /s/ Brian Taylor                                                                   /s/ Daniel R. Passeri
  Name: Brian Taylor                                                             Name: Daniel R. Passeri
  Title: Head of Field Operations                                           Title: Chief Executive Officer 
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Schedule A
 
 
 

Start End Vivarium License 
Fee

12/01/22 11/30/23 $ 59,152.50

12/01/23 11/30/24 $ 61,518.60
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Exhibit 1
 
 

40 Guest Street, Vivarium
 

 

*Furniture and equipment layout are shown for illustrative purposes only.
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Exhibit 2

Vivarium Service Agreement
 
 

1.Vivarium License Services. The following is an exhaustive list of all supplies, equipment and services included in the cost of 
each Vivarium License Fee (“Vivarium License Services”):

 
a. Included Supplies

i. Vivarium supplies: water bottles, bedding, food and environmental enhancements (e.g. nestlets, Shepard Shacks 
or functionally equivalent etc.)

ii. Standard laboratory technician supplies (e.g. gloves, lab coats, safety glasses and dust masks)
b. Included Holding Room Equipment

i. IVC Holding racks equipped with disposable IVC rodent cages
ii. Transfer station

c. Included Procedure Room Equipment
i. Biosafety Cabinet
ii. Bench-top space with lab chair
iii. Handwash sink
iv. CO2 gas supply
v. Anesthetic vaporizer

d. Included Services
i. Animal Care Technicians
ii. Veterinary and IACUC oversight and frequent program reviews
iii. Twenty-four hour access to animal holding room and procedure space
iv. Cage changes every 2 weeks for mice and every week for rats, or as needed. More frequent changes are at 

additional cost
v. Daily food, water and health checks
vi. Quarterly Sentinel Health Surveillance testing
vii. High-speed broadband WiFi internet

 
2.Extra Services. The following is a non-exhaustive list of supplementary supplies, equipment and services available to Licensee 
upon request and at additional cost to Licensee beyond the Vivarium License Fee:

 
a. General

i. Animal models
ii. Any additional services that will require a research technician
iii. Transportation, health reports, quarantine and Quarterly Sentinel Health Surveillance screening required for 

incoming animals from suppliers other than Charles River Laboratories, the Jackson Laboratory, Envigo and 
Taconic

b. Specialized Training
c. Technical Services:

i. Dosing
1) Core Hour Dosing
2) Outside Core Hour Dosing

ii. Bleed
1) Routine Bleed Route (IV, RO, submandibular, terminal, submental)
2) After Core Technician Hours Bleed
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iii. Euthanasia/necropsy

1) Technician completes euthanasia
2) Technician completes necropsy

iv. Other
1) Sample labeling
2) Tissue sample / Organ harvesting

v. Surgery (Pricing depends on the species/quantity and type of surgery)
In electing to have SmartLabs provide any Technical Services or Specialized Training on behalf of Licensee, Licensee agrees to release 
and waive any and all claims against SmartLabs for injury or damage to person, property or business of every kind, nature and 
description, sustained in in relation to any such Technical Services or Specialized Training, other than by reason of gross negligence or 
willful misconduct of SmartLabs.

d. Supplies/Materials:
i. Non-standard gases (cost estimate driven by quantity needed)
ii. Non-standard medications/drugs (cost estimate driven by quantity needed)
iii. Additional lab supplies and non-controlled drugs (Controlled Substances would need to be procured by licensee)

e. Husbandry Services: including but not limited to,
i. Application/removal of non-standard diet
ii. Application/removal of moist feed
iii. Application/removal of treated water
iv. Weaning
v. Tumor measurements
vi. Body weights
vii.Animal identification (does not include tag or microchip) viii.Animal 

preparations (e.g., shaving)
f. Equipment

i. Licensee may request to add an additional 88-cage IVC Holding Rack upon thirty (30) days advance written 
notice to SmartLabs, subject to availability, and for a monthly fee of $3,900.00.
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The following services are not provided and/or are not included in License. When available, these services can be provided 
under a separate agreement with different terms.

 
Any research/work required to be conducted under Biosafety Levels (BSL) 3 or 4 policies and
guidelines.
Use of any radioactive material.
Radiation producing equipment (including lasers) will need special approval
IT Support that involves system changes or any operation that involves elevated or administrative privileges OR that requires 
configuration of software, hardware, or applications that are not owned or
provided by SmartLabs.

Exclusive access to Licensor-owned shared equipment
Specific Training such as RCRA, DOT, cyanide, etc.
Exclusive use of shared and common spaces
Private Conference Rooms
Special PPE
Facsimile Services
Shipping of Packages
Costs of moving in and moving out
Certification and Preventative Maintenance of company owned equipment
Use of Licensor’s accounts for purchases
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EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF THE PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER 
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Daniel R. Passeri, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Cue Biopharma, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the 
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this 
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the 
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in 
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to 
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those 
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our 
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for 
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the 
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent 
fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to 
materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to 
the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are 
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal 
control over financial reporting.

Date: August 4, 2022
  
/s/ Daniel R. Passeri
Name:  Daniel R. Passeri
Title:    Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)
 



EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF THE PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER 
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 

I, Kerri-Ann Millar, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Cue Biopharma, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the 
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this 
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the 
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in 
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to 
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those 
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our 
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for 
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; 

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the 
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent 
fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to 
materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to 
the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are 
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal 
control over financial reporting.

Date: August 4, 2022
  
/s/ Kerri-Ann Millar
Name:  Kerri-Ann Millar
Title:    Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)
 



EXHIBIT 32.1
  

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, 

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Cue Biopharma, Inc. (the “Company”) for the three months ended June 30, 2022 as filed with 
the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), we, Daniel R. Passeri, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, and Kerri-Ann 
Millar, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, to 
our knowledge that:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the 
Company.

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished 
to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.
  
/s/ Daniel R. Passeri   /s/ Kerri-Ann Millar
Name: Daniel R. Passeri   Name: Kerri-Ann Millar
Title: Chief Executive Officer   Title: Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)   (Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)
      
Date: August 4, 2022   Date: August 4, 2022
  




